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          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Good afternoon.

          3  My name is Councilman Stewart, and as the Chair I am

          4  proud to welcome all of you to the first meeting of

          5  the New York City Council Immigration Committee.

          6                 Serving with me on the Committee are

          7  Council Members Charles Barron, Lewis Fidler, Miguel

          8  Martinez and Anabelle Palma. I am pleased to welcome

          9  all of you here today, and members of the community

         10  and also the advocates, and also I'm pleased to

         11  offer Commissioner, from the Mayor's Office of

         12  Immigrant Affairs, Sayu Bhojwani, to today's

         13  hearing.

         14                 We are all extremely excited about

         15  the prospects of this new Committee. Recent events

         16  prove that both the City Council and the

         17  Administration have taken important steps towards

         18  recognizing the importance of addressing issues

         19  affecting immigrants in New York City.

         20                 The passage of 38-A and the enactment

         21  of Executive Order 41 provide increased access to

         22  City services for immigrants, but we still have a

         23  long way to go to ensure that New York City protects

         24  the immigrants' rights, dignity and safety, and

         25  assist immigrants in pursuing educational and
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          2  economic opportunities that have brought and

          3  continue to bring so many of this country and

          4  specifically New York City.

          5                 The decision to create a full

          6  Committee on Immigration represents an important

          7  development for the Council, as it will provide

          8  important opportunities to discuss the needs of

          9  immigrant communities and work on legislation that

         10  upholds and further the rights of immigrants.

         11                 The Committee is in the process of

         12  developing a rigorous agenda for the year ahead. We

         13  already have several events planned in the coming

         14  months, including a hearing about Resolution 42,

         15  introduced here by my friend Council Member

         16  Martinez, and supported by over 20 Council members,

         17  which critiques President Bush's new proposal for a

         18  temporary guest worker program and also a joint

         19  hearing and forum with the Committee on Higher

         20  Education, with my friend Charles Barron.

         21                 We are also planning a joint hearing

         22  with the Health Committee on Immigrant Health in New

         23  York City.

         24                 Today we are here to discuss

         25  immigration issues with the Mayor's Office of

                                                            5

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  Immigrant Affairs.

          3                 The mission of the Mayor's Office of

          4  Immigrant Affairs, to foster communication and

          5  connection between City agencies and immigrant

          6  communities is a crucial one.

          7                 Today's conversation will allow the

          8  Immigration Committee to get a better sense of the

          9  programs and legislative initiatives on the agenda.

         10                 By increasing our communication and

         11  understanding we can increase our ability to improve

         12  the lives of the immigrants in this City, which is

         13  in turn improves the lives of all New Yorkers.

         14                 We are glad to have members from

         15  community and advocacy groups to join us today to

         16  discuss the impact of federal immigration

         17  initiatives, such as special registration, the need

         18  to protect Executive Order 41, and other relevant

         19  issues in immigration communities.

         20                 We look forward to a productive year

         21  again.

         22                 Joining us we have Council Member

         23  Bill DeBlasio, and because I was the -- the

         24  Immigration Committee was a subcommittee on the

         25  General Welfare Committee, I will have him say a few
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          2  words.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you,

          4  Chairman Stewart.

          5                 I just want to, first of all,

          6  congratulate you. It is long overdue that this City

          7  Council and every element of our government focus

          8  more on the needs of immigrants. I think the Council

          9  started to do that very aggressively with our recent

         10  legislation, which was a very positive experience in

         11  our dealings with the Mayor's Office as well, but I

         12  typically want to thank you, Mr. Chairman. Your

         13  efforts have put immigration issues on the map in

         14  this Council, much, or more, in fact, than anyone in

         15  this Council, and I think it is particularly

         16  important that this Committee, the Subcommittee,

         17  because a full committee. I was honored to work with

         18  you when it was a Subcommittee, but I think it's

         19  long overdue that it become a full Committee. I

         20  think it's great that you are in leadership of it,

         21  and we really appreciate the proactive agenda you're

         22  putting forward. And we at the General Welfare

         23  Committee are glad you're still with us as well.

         24  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right, at
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          2  this time I would like to recognize the Chair of the

          3  Higher Education Committee, Council Member Charles

          4  Barron.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chairman.

          7                 I, too, want to lend my voice to

          8  those who congratulate you for your appointment.

          9  This is a very serious, serious issue, particularly

         10  in CUNY, a lot of immigrant students that make up

         11  the richness of the diversity of CUNY and the City

         12  as it relates to economic, as it relates to cultural

         13  and intellectual gifts that the immigrant community

         14  gives to this City and we want to make sure that

         15  their rights are preserved and truly metered out in

         16  this City.

         17                 So, I want to congratulate you for

         18  your ascension to the Chair of this Committee and

         19  the seriousness of the City and the City Council

         20  will now be taken as in regards to immigrant issues.

         21                 We're looking forward to our joint

         22  hearing, and a lot of changes in this City and a lot

         23  of support for a very richly diversified community

         24  that adds so much to the live in New York City and

         25  the politics of New York City.
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          2                 So, once again, congratulations. And

          3  please excuse me. I have to go to the Chair of my

          4  meeting next door, in our organizing meeting for the

          5  CUNY students, and I'm taking Miguel Martinez with

          6  me, whether he likes it or not, Mr. Chair. Thank you

          7  very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: You're welcome.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Mr. Chair,

         10  if I may? I just want to make you aware that I also

         11  sit on the Higher Education Committee, I'll be

         12  coming in and out, and I just don't want to minimize

         13  the importance of this first hearing of the

         14  Committee on Immigration.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: At this time we

         16  would like to hear from the Administration, so we

         17  will call on the Commissioner of the Mayor's Office

         18  of Immigrant Affairs, Sayu Bhojwani.

         19                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Good

         20  afternoon, Mr. Chair, and members of the Committee

         21  on Immigration. My name is Sayu Bhojwani, and I'm

         22  Commissioner of the Mayor's Office of Immigrant

         23  Affairs.

         24                 I want to thank you for inviting me

         25  here today to testify on the mission and work of our
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          2  office in serving immigrant communities in New York

          3  City.

          4                 I want to commend you, Council Member

          5  Stewart, the Committee members and others on the

          6  Council for recognizing the importance of

          7  immigration to New York City by appointing this

          8  diverse and distinguished committee.

          9                 As you know, the City of New York is

         10  a City of immigrants. Nearly two-thirds of the City

         11  are either immigrants or children of immigrants.

         12                 The City's population and economic

         13  growth are profoundly connected to the influx of

         14  immigrants, and in fact, without immigration, New

         15  York would not be one of the largest cities in the

         16  United States.

         17                 As you said, the Mayor's Office of

         18  Immigrant Affairs, established by a referendum in

         19  the City's Charter in 2001, facilitates cooperation

         20  and communication between immigrant communities and

         21  City agencies.

         22                 Mayor Bloomberg appointed me as the

         23  office's first Commissioner shortly after his

         24  inauguration in 2002.

         25                 Since then the Mayor and his senior
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          2  staff have worked on a series of initiatives to

          3  increase immigrant access to important City

          4  services, and to encourage New York City residents,

          5  no matter the language they speak, the immigration

          6  status they hold or the country in which they were

          7  born to become more fully a part of the City's

          8  economic, social and cultural life.

          9                 The most comprehensive of the Mayor's

         10  Immigrant Access Initiative is the historic

         11  establishment of 3-1-1 as a centralized number that

         12  New Yorkers can call in over 170 languages to access

         13  government services.

         14                 At any time of day you can call and

         15  ask about school closings in Russian, report lack of

         16  heat in Spanish, or request a permit in Chinese.

         17                 Our office has worked closely with

         18  3-1-1 to help enhance their provision of language

         19  assistance and promote awareness about 3-1-1 in

         20  immigrant communities.

         21                 Before I detail some of the

         22  initiatives we've worked on and explain further the

         23  role of my office, let me also point out that in

         24  addition to the Mayor's Office of Immigrant Affairs,

         25  several City agencies have offices focused on
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          2  reaching the City's diverse communities.

          3                 The Office of Refugee and Immigrant

          4  Affairs at the Human Resources Administration, the

          5  Office of Immigrant Initiatives at the Department of

          6  Youth and Community Development, the New Immigrant

          7  Outreach at the New York Police Department, Cross

          8  Cultural Communications in the Department of Health,

          9  the Immigrant Employment Rights Project at the Human

         10  Rights Commission, and the Office of English

         11  Language Learners at the Department of Education.

         12                 Each employ bilingual staff sensitive

         13  to the needs of students, parents and community

         14  members.

         15                 Two units of the Mayor's Office, the

         16  Office to Combat Domestic Violence and the Office of

         17  Health Insurance Access, have focused public

         18  education and outreach on the immigrant community,

         19  to ensure that they can seek assistance for health

         20  care services and domestic violence counseling and

         21  intervention.

         22                 The Department of Small Business

         23  Services Micro Enterprise Program offers

         24  multilingual services to enable immigrant

         25  micro-entrepreneurs achieve business creation and
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          2  growth.

          3                 The SVS Adult Special Populations

          4  Program provides job placement and training to many

          5  immigrant workers and their communities.

          6                 In October 2003, the Mayor appointed

          7  leadership to the Latin Media and Entertainment

          8  Commission, which fostered economic development for

          9  Latin Media Productions and businesses in New York

         10  City.

         11                 Furthermore, the Mayor and the

         12  Economic Development Corporation recently helped

         13  spearhead the development of a new commercial center

         14  in the College Point area near the Flushing Airport

         15  that will help hundreds of mostly Korean Americans,

         16  small businesses and workers.

         17                 In the nearly two years since I have

         18  served as Commissioner of the Mayor's Office of

         19  Immigrant Affairs, the Office has fulfilled through

         20  the main functions.

         21                 One is to advise the Mayor on the

         22  impact of City, State and federal policies on

         23  immigrants in New York.

         24                 Second is to consult with City

         25  agencies on their methods of outreach and service
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          2  delivery to immigrant communities.

          3                 And third is to serve as an ombudsman

          4  to immigrants and community groups seeking

          5  assistance in navigating government agencies.

          6                 Within that third function, we

          7  provide assistance to those immigrants who usually

          8  through no fault of their own have been waiting an

          9  extraordinary length of time, extraordinarily long

         10  length of time, often for no logical reason, for a

         11  response to their immigration applications to the US

         12  Citizenship and Immigration Services.

         13                 This individual attention to

         14  applications is the only direct service we provide,

         15  but in some ways one of the most important.

         16                 As I am sure you know, there is a

         17  clear distinction between immigration policy and

         18  immigrant policy.

         19                 The City of New York has no

         20  jurisdiction over immigration policy. Yet, for many

         21  immigrant families, immigration status is the most

         22  challenging issue they face.

         23                 Families often include members with

         24  very different statuses, including, for example,

         25  children who are American-born, and parents who are
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          2  awaiting an adjustment of status who are

          3  undocumented.

          4                 The Mayor's Office of Immigrant

          5  Affairs provides assistance in immigration matters,

          6  even though we are ultimately unable to control the

          7  outcome of an immigration policy.

          8                 Last year we responded to 8,000

          9  telephone inquiries and 2,165 items of

         10  correspondence related to immigration issues.

         11                 We also advocated for nearly 1,000

         12  individuals with the CIS, the Citizenship and

         13  Immigration Services, and other government agencies

         14  on immigration matters, and successfully resolved

         15  nearly half of those cases.

         16                 Generally immigrant policy addresses

         17  matters other than immigration that affect

         18  immigrants.

         19                 In the last eight months Mayor

         20  Bloomberg has signed into law three major

         21  unprecedented policies that promote access and

         22  protection to New York City immigrants.

         23                 Many of your fellow Council members

         24  work closely with our office and members of the

         25  Administration in support of these three policies.
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          2                 The first, signed into law on June

          3  3rd, 2003, was Intro. 96, a bill to strengthen

          4  workplace protections for domestic workers and

          5  household employees, the vast majority of whom are

          6  immigrant women of color, and are commonly exploited

          7  due to discrimination, language barriers and

          8  immigration status.

          9                 Our office worked actively with the

         10  Department of Consumer Affairs, Council Member Gale

         11  Brewer, and advocates to build consensus around this

         12  critical legislation.

         13                 The second policy is Executive Order

         14  41, signed on September 17th of last year, and it

         15  establishes an unprecedented cornerstone policy to

         16  ensure immigrant access to City services.

         17                 The Mayor's Office of Immigrant

         18  Affairs prioritized this issue early on and worked

         19  closely with advocates, City Council and others in

         20  the Administration to develop a comprehensive and

         21  lawful policy.

         22                 Executive Order 41 tells City

         23  workers, including police officers that they

         24  generally cannot ask about or disclose immigration

         25  status and other confidential information, unless
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          2  the person is suspected of criminal or illegal

          3  activity, or it is necessary to determine

          4  eligibility for services.

          5                 The order prohibits inquiries about

          6  immigration status for the first time, and improves

          7  the prohibition against disclosure to form one of

          8  the strongest such policies in the nation.

          9                 Our office has conducted and

         10  continues to conduct outreach to educate immigrants

         11  in diverse communities about this new policy.

         12                 Specifically, my staff and I appear

         13  at community events around the City to explain and

         14  distribute multilingual materials on the Executive

         15  Order and are working with City agencies to ensure

         16  proper implementation of the Order.

         17                 The third policy signed into law on

         18  December 22nd is Intro. 38, the Equal Access to

         19  Health and Human Services Law, which creates new

         20  language assistance requirements that will help

         21  immigrants in limited English-proficient communities

         22  access critical social services.

         23                 The law requires that the Human

         24  Resources Administration, the Administration for

         25  Children's Services, the Department of Health and
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          2  Mental Hygiene, and the Department of Homeless

          3  Services, to institute new mechanisms that will

          4  greatly increase language access for the City's

          5  non-English-speaking residents.

          6                 While the City already provides

          7  extensive translation interpretation services, one

          8  of the first priorities of our office was to further

          9  improve the City's ability to ensure language

         10  access, a key factor in ensuring that immigrants are

         11  able to utilize the services to which they're

         12  entitled.

         13                 These programs and policies highlight

         14  the Mayor's commitment to making New York City a

         15  place where all New Yorkers feel safe and welcome.

         16                 In our role as Policy Advisor to the

         17  Mayor, the Office of Immigrant Affairs helps develop

         18  the Administration's position on important issues

         19  affecting immigrants on the State and federal

         20  levels.

         21                 For example, in July 2003 I testified

         22  on behalf of the Mayor, along with the Director of

         23  the Mayor's Office for People With Disabilities,

         24  before the State Board of Elections on the State

         25  implementation of the federal Help America Vote Act.
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          2                 HAVA presents wonderful opportunities

          3  to reform voting systems, but it also creates

          4  potential barriers for immigrant, minority and

          5  first-time voters.

          6                 We advocated on behalf of the Mayor

          7  that the State Plan adopted a more expansive list of

          8  acceptable forms of identification for first-time

          9  voters to prevent people from being turned away at

         10  the polls.

         11                 We also supported adopting a

         12  standardized and integrated voting system statewide,

         13  using provisional ballots as voter registration

         14  forms, improving language access for voters, and

         15  improving voter education for immigrant and limited

         16  English proficient communities.

         17                 On the federal level, the Mayor's

         18  Office of Immigrant Affairs advises the

         19  Administration on policies and legislation affecting

         20  immigrants.

         21                 For the past two years the Mayor has

         22  supported the Dream Act, a bipartisan bill that

         23  would legalize thousands of immigrant youth who have

         24  graduated from a US high school and are pursuing

         25  higher education.
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          2                 The Mayor has also strongly supported

          3  an earned legalization program for undocumented

          4  immigrants to help them further integrate into our

          5  society.

          6                 In addition to our work on policy,

          7  our office conducts many events to strengthen

          8  relationships and understanding between immigrant

          9  communities in City government.

         10                 In 2002, we organized with the

         11  Mayor's Office of Contracts a Citywide conference

         12  for immigrants serving not-for-profit, to educate

         13  them about how to obtain contracts with the City.

         14                 Our office regularly convenes a

         15  Citywide interagency task force to collaborate with

         16  agencies on outreach strategies aimed at reaching

         17  immigrant communities, and to work on such issues as

         18  translation and interpretation, media strategies and

         19  information dissemination.

         20                 As recently as last week, the Office

         21  held a program in coordination with the Department

         22  of Information, Technology and Telecommunications to

         23  inform community groups about 311 services and

         24  enlist their assistance in spreading the word about

         25  311 to the City's diverse communities.
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          2                 Our collaborations have included:

          3                 - assisting the Department of Youth

          4  and Community Development in planning a Citywide

          5  conference for immigrant youth service providers;

          6                 - conducting a Citywide survey with

          7  the Human Rights Commission to document and

          8  understand bias and discrimination experienced by

          9  South Asian, Muslim and Arab-American individuals

         10  since September 11th, 2001;

         11                 - partnering with the Human Resources

         12  Administration and close to 30 community-based

         13  organizations to train staff and develop materials

         14  in nine languages on the new immigrant eligibility

         15  rules for food stamps; and

         16                 - organizing with the Department of

         17  Consumer Affairs a press conference in December,

         18  informing immigrants about the diversity Visa

         19  lottery and the dangers of immigration consultant

         20  fraud.

         21                 In addition, our office organized an

         22  ethnic media breakfast at Gracie Mansion with the

         23  Mayor in January, to allow the Mayor to address

         24  issues of specific concern to immigrants and to

         25  ensure that immigrant press could convey important
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          2  information about the City to their readers in the

          3  languages they best understand.

          4                 I've offered only a small description

          5  of the work that the Mayor's Office of Immigrant

          6  Affairs and City agencies have done to serve

          7  immigrant communities in the City.

          8                 In the coming year, we will continue

          9  to monitor and ensure the implementation of the

         10  Language Access Law and Executive Order 41, advise

         11  the Administration on important issues affecting

         12  immigrants, and build stronger relationships between

         13  immigrant communities and City government.

         14                 We look forward to working with your

         15  committee on our common goals.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Commissioner,

         18  before I call on my colleagues to pose some

         19  questions, I have a few questions that I would like

         20  clarity on.

         21                 Could you please describe any

         22  publication that the Mayor's Office of Immigrant

         23  Affairs has produced, or is planning to produce? For

         24  example, like reports or brochures or

         25  investigations, or any evaluations; are any of these
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          2  available to the public?

          3                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: We have a

          4  directory of services that we're in the process of

          5  updating that gives information about the hundreds

          6  of community organizations that work with

          7  immigrants, according to the language, that's going

          8  to be available on the web in the next couple of

          9  months.

         10                 We do have multilingual materials

         11  available on the Executive Order, and then what we

         12  do is kind of have a clearing house for multilingual

         13  materials that various City agencies produce on food

         14  stamps and other benefits, the Health Insurance

         15  Programs, that are available in our office if anyone

         16  calls and requests that information.

         17                 So, yes, they are available to the

         18  public. We tend to focus on working with the

         19  agencies on producing materials that are appropriate

         20  to the services that they provide, because we don't

         21  do much in the way of direct service.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: So, do you work

         23  with community-based organizations, in terms of

         24  direct -- you said, in your testimony you said

         25  something about direct service, that the only direct
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          2  service you provide is to deal with immigration, US

          3  Citizenship, et cetera?

          4                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Right.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I want to know,

          6  do you have any satellite office, or you work

          7  directly with a community-based organization?

          8                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: We take

          9  individual inquiries that come in through our

         10  website, or through the phone or 311. It's a service

         11  that, I should just explain that there's a

         12  congressional unit of the immigration authorities

         13  that is available to respond to inquiries from

         14  congressional offices.

         15                 The Mayor's Office has a special

         16  arrangement, because New York City has so many

         17  immigrants to get responses to inquiries from that

         18  Congressional unit. So all we do, if a constituent

         19  contacts our office, if a Council member contacts

         20  our office on behalf of a constituent, it's to

         21  follow up on that inquiry.

         22                 We only follow-up on inquiries where

         23  there has been a long-standing, pending application,

         24  where someone has been waiting an extraordinarily

         25  length -- it's not a service that we provide to help
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          2  someone fill out an application.

          3                 I mean, we do answer those questions,

          4  but the special service that we are able to provide

          5  is to get a response for a member of the public,

          6  that that person would not be able to get on their

          7  own.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Would you be

          9  willing to work closer with these community-based

         10  organizations to maybe set up a satellite office to

         11  deal with immigration affairs?

         12                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: One of the

         13  things that we do is send our staff out to events

         14  that community-based organizations are having to

         15  respond to inquiries. But the office is not staffed

         16  to handle immigration application, so I think what

         17  we would be willing to do is to take inquiries from

         18  CBOs where their clients have been waiting a long

         19  time and they haven't heard. But it's not part of

         20  the mandate of the Office to complete immigration

         21  applications.

         22                 As you know, we did have the

         23  citizenship NYC program that was housed at DYCD, and

         24  that program has been terminated, but it's not part

         25  of the City services to assist with immigrant
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          2  applications. DYCD also gives grants to

          3  community-based organizations to do legal assistance

          4  for citizenship and residency applications.

          5                 You know, I think we would be willing

          6  to work with CBOs on exceptional cases, but I think

          7  it would be beyond the scope of the office's work to

          8  have a satellite office, unless we were able to

          9  staff it with lawyers, I would not be comfortable

         10  having the staff give legal opinions to members of

         11  the public on their immigration, which is, you know,

         12  the greatest need is for legal opinions on

         13  immigration matters.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Right.

         15                 At this time I'll call on my

         16  colleague Bill DeBlasio. I know you have some

         17  questions.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chairman.

         20                 I want to just ask about a couple of

         21  things that Chairman Stewart and I have talked about

         22  over time, and really happy to have you here today

         23  and start a dialogue, to help us all understand how

         24  we can work together.

         25                 Yes, three areas: One, and, again,
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          2  I'm going to just liberally steal from some of the

          3  thoughts that Kendall Stewart has raised over time.

          4  We see a number of situations where people are

          5  eligible for citizenship and it doesn't happen for

          6  whatever reason, and I guess what I'm trying to

          7  understand, and I see some of this in your

          8  testimony, but don't we have a tremendous

          9  opportunity in the City? Every additional person who

         10  can be a citizen, is made a citizen, helps the City

         11  in terms of some of the benefits they have coming to

         12  them.

         13                 Certainly, I would think helps us in

         14  terms of the political strength we have vis-a-vis

         15  Washington, just numerically speaking, every

         16  additional citizen is helpful in terms of our

         17  getting our fair share, et cetera.

         18                 I'm not clear what the City is doing

         19  to expand the possibilities of folks who have every

         20  right to citizenship, are doing everything right to

         21  get citizenship, and also to troubleshoot with the

         22  federal government, because it seems to me a lot of

         23  people really are running into -- still there has

         24  been some changes, but really a very bureaucratic

         25  reality on the federal side, made worse by 9/11.

                                                            27

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2                 So, how can the City advocate in a

          3  broader way to streamline the citizenship process?

          4                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Well, in terms

          5  of the trouble-shooting, we're doing it on an

          6  individual basis, right? For those people who

          7  contact us, or community groups who contact us on

          8  behalf of crime. I think a role that we can play as

          9  a City, both on the executive and legislative side,

         10  is to work harder to advocate to the federal

         11  government that the systems that cause these delays

         12  in application be improved.

         13                 I think people who are interested in

         14  applying for citizenship have probably applied, and

         15  certainly there are people we could do more outreach

         16  to, but I think in general there's a lot of work

         17  being done to encourage people to apply, and the

         18  role that as a City government we can play is to

         19  advocate harder at Washington level to, you know,

         20  allocate more resources, to decrease the backlog,

         21  which from the types of inquiries that we've gotten,

         22  it's clear that the backlog has increased

         23  significantly since September 11th.

         24                 I would say that we've probably seen

         25  the time for applications increased by, the waiting
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          2  time, by about a third, so instead of six months,

          3  it's nine months, instead of 90 days for a travel

          4  authorization, we're looking at about 120 days, and

          5  of course the citizenship process, you know, can

          6  take anywhere from a year to four years.

          7                 And it's always, I think one of the

          8  challenges to developing a very standardized

          9  advocacy addenda is that every case that we could

         10  share with you, and I wish I had some examples, I'd

         11  be happy to share with you, every case is very

         12  different. You know, and it's usually just, not just

         13  but it's usually some bureaucratic mishap that has

         14  occurred. So, it's hard to go and say, well, you

         15  know, we have 200 cases in which the persons who are

         16  denied citizenship because of X, Y and Z or there

         17  isn't a pattern, just a lot of bureaucratic mishaps,

         18  and so we do what we can at our office's level to

         19  help those individuals. But to say that there is a

         20  pattern, the only pattern I could tell you that

         21  there's a pattern that the time, waiting time has

         22  increased by about a third, since -- not so much

         23  since September 11th, but since the reorganization

         24  of the DHS.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Do you find

                                                            29

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  that when you intervene it speeds the process up as

          3  a general rule?

          4                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: So, I guess

          6  the question is, is there a proactive way? I mean,

          7  even if there isn't a pattern, I presume there's a

          8  high percentage of the cases you engage are

          9  successful, and is there some way to get your

         10  service more broadly available.

         11                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Sure. I mean,

         12  you know, I think certainly we can always publicize

         13  more what the office does. We try to tell people

         14  about it as much as we can.

         15                 The only thing that we're able to do,

         16  really it's not a magic trick, it's that we're a

         17  government office reaching out to another government

         18  office, and it's something that we can't educate the

         19  public to do better because they can't do it. And,

         20  so, that's the reason we're able to resolve the

         21  cases. It's not a question of persistence, it's just

         22  a question of access that the government office has.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Okay. Very

         24  quickly, just a couple of other funds. As you know,

         25  this Council has started to move forward, and again
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          2  with Kendall Stewart's leadership on the question of

          3  day laborers, and trying to in particular look at

          4  some positive examples around the City in the

          5  region, where hiring halls were created that were

          6  managed, as opposed to the often very kind of

          7  difficult informal ranges that exist.

          8                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Right.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: What is the

         10  Mayor's Office position on hiring halls, and how we

         11  can help day laborers and at the same time help the

         12  communities that in some cases are having

         13  difficulties because of day laborer concentrations?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Well, I mean

         15  obviously it's an issue that we talk about, and this

         16  particular hiring hall was I think a little bit

         17  before my time, but the Mayor's Office Community

         18  Assistance Unit was very helpful in setting up the

         19  hiring hall that the Latin-American workers project

         20  runs in Brooklyn. So, you know, I can speculate that

         21  it would be something that we're interested in.

         22                 Certainly we understand these folks

         23  are otherwise law abiding citizens looking for work

         24  and to the extent that we can accommodate their

         25  needs, given the sort of state's constraints and
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          2  financial constraints, I'm sure that we've done it

          3  before and I can't imagine why we wouldn't be

          4  interested in doing it again.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: I believe

          6  many are law abiding. Some, of course, are not

          7  documented. But I think the same rule applies and we

          8  certainly feel, representing our communities, that

          9  any model that brings some regulation and structure

         10  is probably good for everyone involved.

         11                 Lastly, I see a line in here, you say

         12  the Mayor has also strongly supported an earned

         13  legalization program, I'm assuming to some extent

         14  that parallels what President Bush is talking about.

         15  I don't want to put words in your mouth, I want to

         16  just raise the concern that many of us have felt

         17  about the recent proposal from President Bush being

         18  in many ways too narrow, and the larger question of

         19  the need for a more comprehensive amnesty; what does

         20  the Mayor feel about that?

         21                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Well, the

         22  Mayor's position repeatedly has been to support

         23  amnesty, so you know, and we believe that the Bush

         24  proposal is a good step in opening a conversation,

         25  but that ultimately full citizenship, a path to full
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          2  citizenship, is really the only way to fully

          3  integrate immigrants.

          4                 So, the Mayor is very supportive of

          5  amnesty, he's been very vocal about that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you,

          7  Mr. Chairman.

          8                 Thank you, Commissioner.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Council Member

         10  Lou Fidler.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chairman. And I also want to congratulate you and

         13  the Speaker on the wisdom of creating this

         14  Committee.

         15                 I think the Commissioner testified

         16  that two thirds of the authors are either immigrants

         17  or sons or daughters of immigrants, and I would say

         18  the other third of us are probably grandchildren of

         19  immigrants.

         20                 I suspect that I bring a somewhat

         21  different perspective to this Committee, and perhaps

         22  why the Speaker selected me to sit on it is that

         23  I've had 19 years as a partner in a law firm that

         24  had as one of its main fields the practice of

         25  immigration law.
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          2                 So, some of the issues that you've

          3  discussed I look at perhaps from a different

          4  perspective.

          5                 And you've answered many of my

          6  questions, the first of which was when someone does

          7  call you with an immigration complaint what do you

          8  do, and you told me that you reach out to the

          9  Congressional Inquiry Office. I have to tell you

         10  from my perspective that usually delays an

         11  applicant's case because if they were next on the

         12  pile, the Congressional Office pulls it out of the

         13  pile and then return it to the examiner who had the

         14  file, it goes to the bottom of the pile. So, if

         15  you're having greater success, I applaud that. I

         16  just wonder what do you do when you reach the

         17  Congressional office and it's really a legal issue?

         18                 I mean, I know there are many, many,

         19  many not-for-profit advocacy groups that provide

         20  attorneys; do you refer those people? Do you give

         21  them a phone number?

         22                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: When we get an

         23  inquiry, the person doing the intake, if it's

         24  determined that there's a legal question we

         25  immediately refer the case, we give them a selection
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          2  of non-profit attorneys that they can contact. We

          3  wouldn't call the Congressional Unit.

          4                 The only time we call the

          5  Congressional Unit is when it appears that after

          6  repeated effort that the individual has made, that

          7  there has been a long period of time, that's the

          8  only time that we would call. And even so, there are

          9  many calls that we make, but it's often just

         10  referred to a non-profit attorney. It's always

         11  referred to a non-profit attorney if it's a legal

         12  question.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I was going to

         14  ask you what a long period of time is, but you sort

         15  of referred to that as well, and I imagine that that

         16  period of time has expanded geometrically, since the

         17  reorganization. I mean, you talk about a citizenship

         18  application taking four years, I mean that's, you

         19  know, while I was doing this work, that was so much

         20  of an exception that it was absurd for it to take

         21  four years.

         22                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: I should just

         23  clarify that the times when that happens is not

         24  because that's a standard. I mean, what will happen,

         25  for example, is they'll get a letter saying that
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          2  your citizenship application will be processed in

          3  say 600 days, so if they call us on the 601st day,

          4  we would recommend that they wait a little bit. We

          5  wouldn't recommend that they wait 1,200 days, but we

          6  would recommend that they wait a little bit and then

          7  call us back.

          8                 So, like I said, it's very hard to

          9  give you very specific scenarios, and I'm happy to

         10  do that, we have a staff person who only handles

         11  these cases, we could talk more about the types of

         12  issues that come up, but sometimes it seems like

         13  someone has changed their address, the INS was

         14  sending them, the then INS was sending them letters

         15  and they didn't get the letter and that kind of

         16  thing, it's just a very different scenario.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: The benefit of

         18  my experience, the reason for the long delays most

         19  frequently at INS is that they totally lost the

         20  paperwork.

         21                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: There is

         22  certainly that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I certainly

         24  hope you would advise everybody who calls you before

         25  they file an application for a copy of their
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          2  application, their documentation and their receipt,

          3  because that is just about the only way to convince

          4  the INS that you ever filed it to begin with.

          5                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I'm going to

          7  take the flip side of this for a second, as well,

          8  because certainly while we want our responsible

          9  residents to get their rights as quickly as

         10  possible, I wonder what efforts are being made by

         11  the Administration, if any, through your office

         12  regarding criminal aliens, people who have committed

         13  felonies or repeated serious misdemeanors, in terms

         14  of making sure that they are not missed in the

         15  system so that they return to the streets to commit

         16  further felonies.

         17                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: It seems to me

         18  that that would be a very specific question for the

         19  Commissioner of the Police Department.

         20                 We're not necessarily involved in the

         21  business details of how they're handling criminal

         22  activity.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So you play no

         24  role, I'm asking the wrong person, is what you're

         25  saying?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Yes. I mean,

          3  our job is to ensure that the people who are

          4  rightfully entitled to services are able to access

          5  those services.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: That's fair

          7  enough. I had a feeling that's where you were going.

          8                 Just one other topic. You testified

          9  you get 8,000 telephone inquiries, and 2,100 items

         10  of correspondence, I guess that's a year; do you

         11  have any way of telling us what most of those deal

         12  with? What's the single, what's the top ten list?

         13  What's the Commissioner's number one most asked

         14  question?

         15                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: I would like

         16  to stay in New York City, or emigrate to New York

         17  City, can you help me do that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: That's pretty

         19  general.

         20                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: That's a lot

         21  of the inquiries that we get.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: From non-New

         23  Yorkers.

         24                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Ways to

         25  legalize, ways to move here, ways to stay here if
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          2  I'm already here.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: That sounds

          4  like it calls for legal advice. What do you do?

          5                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Yes, we would

          6  send them to some non-profits, send them to the DHS

          7  website, you know, depending on what the inquiry is.

          8                 I mean, obviously, they're calling

          9  and they're here undocumented, and they want to

         10  legalize. There are not that many options that are

         11  available.

         12                 We generally just send them to

         13  non-profit groups, is that right?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: It sounds like

         15  the overwhelming number of your inquiries all relate

         16  to, you know, immigration documentation, you know,

         17  Visas, Green Cards, citizenship.

         18                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Let me just

         19  say that before I was appointed, the office focused

         20  predominantly on immigration, and when I came on

         21  board, you know, the Office's focus has shifted

         22  significantly towards policy analysis and

         23  implementation, because immigration is not something

         24  that we are able to really do anything about, other

         25  than give advice and help with inquiries, and the
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          2  bigger part of the role that the City can play in

          3  ensuring that people have access to the services for

          4  which they are eligible, they are aware of the

          5  services for which they are eligible, and so the

          6  focus has shifted and the number of immigration

          7  inquiries has actually fallen.

          8                 You're saying that, I'm telling you

          9  that the number of inquiries we got on immigration

         10  is 8,000, I don't have for you the total number of

         11  inquiries the Office has gotten.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I

         13  misunderstood you. I thought this was the total

         14  number of inquiries you got, and that you were

         15  telling me that most of them are

         16  immigration-related. You have --

         17                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Many more

         18  included than that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Okay.

         20                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: I just wanted

         21  to address the immigration question.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I

         23  misunderstood.

         24                 Okay, I would also imagine that part

         25  of your focus, and I would imagine part of the focus
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          2  of the City should be on those issues, cultural and

          3  otherwise, that uniquely impact on immigrant

          4  communities, and I'll wear my Youth Services

          5  Committee hat, there's certainly issues that our

          6  immigrant youth face that non-immigrant youth do

          7  not, in terms of adapting to their environment here.

          8  And there is many different problems and issues

          9  regarding that, as there are different cultures from

         10  which people come to this country.

         11                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Right.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: So I would

         13  look forward to working with you on those particular

         14  issues especially, and with this Committee and its

         15  Chairman.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you, Chair

         17  of the Youth Committee. I guess you have quite a

         18  number of young people who are undocumented and need

         19  to be adjusted.

         20                 Now, we have just been joined by the

         21  Deputy Majority Leader, Council Member Perkins, and

         22  I would like him to ask a few questions.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         24  very much, Mr. Chairman, and congratulations. It was

         25  a decision well-deserved by you and which this
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          2  Council surely needs done in terms of making this a

          3  full committee, making you the leader of this

          4  Committee.

          5                 You know, all of us are immigrants

          6  more or less, so this is perhaps the Committee that

          7  all of us are represented by, all of us, not just

          8  those of us of color, but all of us. So, you have

          9  the Committee that represents all New Yorkers, more

         10  or less, because we're all immigrants. The last time

         11  I counted. We got here by different votes maybe but

         12  we're all immigrants.

         13                 One of the concerns that I've had is

         14  the enormous amount of new immigrants, if you will,

         15  who have come to my office and come to this Council

         16  very, very concerned about the Patriot Act, and

         17  about those aspects of the Patriot Act that have

         18  targeted immigrants, or at least that immigrants

         19  have been felt have been targeting them, and, in

         20  fact, this Council in its wisdom decided to look at

         21  the Patriot Act through the Campaign to defend the

         22  Bill of Rights and passed the resolution at our last

         23  Stated Meeting, recognizing the role that the City

         24  had to play to defend the civil rights and civil

         25  liberties of New Yorkers, of Americans in general,
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          2  and I'm wondering from the Administration's point of

          3  view, do they recognize that there are aspects of

          4  the Patriot Act that have anti-immigrant components

          5  through it, or have they bothered to look at that at

          6  all?

          7                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: What we know

          8  is that clearly the Patriot Act has created a lot of

          9  fear in immigrant communities, and what we feel that

         10  we've done locally was with you and others on the

         11  Council, is to create a policy that can ensure

         12  immigrant communities that they should feel safe in

         13  coming forward and accessing service.

         14                 I mean, that is the area that we have

         15  jurisdiction over, and that we have tried to work on

         16  locally.

         17                 But certainly there is a clear

         18  awareness, not only just in general, in the abstract

         19  administration, but on my part, because I belong to

         20  the communities that have been most drastically

         21  affected by the Patriot Act, that it is creating a

         22  lot of fear. But to the extent that what we are able

         23  to control at the local level, we have worked hard

         24  to do.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you. I
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          2  appreciate that, and would only suggest perhaps, if

          3  you, the Administration could articulate some of

          4  these concerns to the Bush Administration, that it

          5  probably would go a long way, coming from not just

          6  the Council but also of the Administration as well.

          7                 So, I would hope you could steer your

          8  way towards that. I think it would be very, very

          9  important, even as it's not in our jurisdiction per

         10  se, you do represent the voice of so many

         11  immigrants, and a place where so much fear, as you

         12  know, has taken place as a result of that act.

         13                 I want to ask another question as it

         14  relates to the lead bill. As you know, the City

         15  Council overrode the Mayor's veto on that bill, and

         16  there are enormous number of immigrants that are

         17  affected by lead paint poisoning, as we heard in

         18  testimony, and I just find it difficult for the

         19  Administration to show such sensitivity to

         20  immigrants' rights and immigrants' concerns, and

         21  then veto a bill and then have such a bill to

         22  protect these immigrant children was passed, to then

         23  go and assert that not only is it a bad bill, but

         24  that the Administration itself was going to actually

         25  potentially sue to prevent that bill from being in
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          2  effect.

          3                 And whether or not the Administration

          4  goes that far, it sends a signal to the bad

          5  landlords that are poisoning the children that this

          6  is not something that the Administration is taking

          7  seriously.

          8                 So, I wonder if you could help us

          9  with that because I think it's significant, that

         10  even here within the Administration's jurisdiction

         11  something significant could be done, could have been

         12  done in terms of this bill. Lawyers, I mean doctors,

         13  immigrant specialists, everyone endorsed this bill,

         14  except the Administration.

         15                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Well, I guess

         16  what I can say in response to that is that it's the

         17  perspective that I can certainly take back to others

         18  in the Administration that work more actively on the

         19  bill, and, you know, present that perspective. I'm

         20  not sure that's been discussed before and we can

         21  share with you where that conversation went.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Last but not

         23  least, Mr. Chairman.

         24                 New York has a tradition of allowing

         25  immigrants to vote, as you know, particularly in

                                                            45

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  terms of school board elections.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And it has

          5  proven to be very, very good. In fact, in District

          6  6, which is Northern Manhattan, I know that school

          7  board elections were really extraordinary examples

          8  of civic participation by immigrants, because the

          9  turnout in those elections was really extraordinary.

         10  And now there is growing interest in the immigrant

         11  community through various coalitions with which I'm

         12  working, for voting rights for immigrants in

         13  municipal elections in general. They are taxpayers,

         14  even to the extent, to the minimum extent of paying

         15  taxes every time they go buy something from a store,

         16  some are even, have even greater status so-to-speak,

         17  but I am just wondering where is the Administration

         18  when it comes to voting rights for immigrants in

         19  municipal elections, considering the growing number

         20  of immigrants in our City, considering they are, to

         21  some extent taxpayers, considering the tradition of

         22  this City and the immediate history of school board

         23  elections, but even in the past, by the way, you got

         24  off the boat from Ireland, you got off the boat from

         25  Italy, you got off the boat from some other part of
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          2  the world and you arrived in New York, you went

          3  straight to the voting booth. That that tradition is

          4  a tradition that is, you know, a part of New York's

          5  expression of democracy; can we get the

          6  Administration --

          7                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: You're talking

          8  about non-citizen voting?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes.

         10                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Right.

         11                 Yes, I mean, we don't have a position

         12  on it. We know that there are some legal issues

         13  around it. I know from what we've been talking to

         14  various immigrant community advocates about, that

         15  there's a growing interest in the issue.

         16                 I would say that given the Mayor's

         17  general position on immigrant issues that it's

         18  certainly something that, though we don't have an

         19  official position on it, I can't imagine that it

         20  would be something that we would be outrightly

         21  rejecting.

         22                 But it's a fairly complicated legal

         23  issue. There's a new and growing interest in it,

         24  we're following it, and to the extent that there

         25  comes a time where a position has to be taken. I
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          2  think we would be ready to do that. But right now

          3  there isn't. And I just think it's important to

          4  clarify that we're talking about non-citizen voting,

          5  because immigrants who are citizens are obviously

          6  able to vote.

          7                 I just want to clarify that we're

          8  talking about non-citizen voting, because you were

          9  saying immigrants.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes, thank

         11  you for clarifying that.

         12                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: As an

         13  immigrant I do vote.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Right.

         15                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: But we're

         16  talking about non-citizen.

         17                 There's a lot of interest in that

         18  issue.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Right. I'm

         20  glad you clarified it, because as I said, we're all

         21  immigrants.

         22                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Right.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Some of us

         24  can vote, and some of us can't vote. And those that

         25  can't vote are considered non-citizens, but
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          2  nevertheless we have a non-citizen tradition of

          3  voting in municipal elections in New York City,

          4  school board elections and even in the not too

          5  distant past when immigrants from Europe arrived,

          6  they were given the opportunity to vote right away.

          7  So, you're right, I'm talking about specifically

          8  those that we consider to be non-citizens, but

          9  nevertheless, who have a stake in our democracy by

         10  virtue of their families, or by virtue of even

         11  paying taxes, to some extent.

         12                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So I think

         14  that that is a concern that is growing by leaps and

         15  bounds in that so-called immigrant non-citizen

         16  community that I would hope this Administration

         17  would find some way to join us as the Council in

         18  addressing.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you.

         20                 Before I call on my next questioner,

         21  I have a concern about in our schools, a high

         22  percentage of our students, they are undocumented,

         23  and we have a school program that parents and some

         24  of those folks are afraid to participate, and so

         25  it's not maximized, and I want to know what the
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          2  Administration is doing as far as making sure that

          3  we get the full benefit of the school lunch program,

          4  not only locally but from the federal government.

          5                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: I'm sorry, on

          6  the issue of whether people are afraid to claim the

          7  benefits, what we have done on the Executive Order

          8  41 is to create a one-page flyer explaining the

          9  policy and on the back listing all the programs that

         10  people are eligible for regardless of status, and

         11  the breakfast and lunch programs are included on

         12  that list of benefits.

         13                 So, you know, I'd be happy to share

         14  with you those materials in different languages so

         15  that you can distribute them to constituent offices.

         16                 I'm not sure I understand the

         17  question about the federal portion of it?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Well, if we do

         19  not maximize what's happening in the school, the

         20  monies do not come down from the federal government,

         21  so it means if you do the best in the school, you

         22  get more money. Isn't that so? It's federal funds

         23  that comes down.

         24                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Right.

         25                 COMMISSIONER STEWART: So, if you
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          2  don't do well in the schools, if you don't do what

          3  you have to do, and so the kids there, they're not

          4  utilizing the program, you don't get the money from

          5  the federal government, and I want to know what the

          6  Administration is doing as far as making sure that

          7  parents and kids, they all utilize this program so

          8  that we can get the money from the federal

          9  government.

         10                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Well, like I

         11  said, we do have this information, and I think we

         12  can certainly work together to get that information

         13  out to more people, so that they're aware that they

         14  are eligible and that there's no need to fear, that

         15  they wouldn't be asked their status, because you

         16  don't need to prove your legal status, in order to

         17  be eligible.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I'd like to call

         19  on my colleague Miguel Martinez. I think he has a

         20  couple of questions.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

         22  Mr. Chair.

         23                 Thank you, Commissioner, for being

         24  here, and congratulations, again.

         25                 I just want to be clear on, do you
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          2  foresee the Mayor increasing your budget for your

          3  agency? Your budget is $250,000 with five people?

          4                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Right.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: And, yet,

          6  you recognize in your statement the population that

          7  you need to serve, already as a new agency, you

          8  testified that you have responded to almost 10,000

          9  round figure, of inquiries and questions. And I

         10  foresee your agency having a difficult time, as more

         11  and more New Yorkers of immigrant status know of

         12  your agency and seek to get additional help, that

         13  you won't have the infrastructure needed to serve

         14  such a large population.

         15                 So, has there been any discussion on

         16  behalf of the Mayor, in terms of increasing and

         17  helping you with an infrastructure that could truly,

         18  truly, truly do the outreach, do the plan and

         19  programming for the immigrant community in the City

         20  of New York?

         21                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Let me just

         22  say that, you know, I don't see our role as an

         23  office serving the City's immigrant communities. I

         24  see our role as helping City agencies who are

         25  already providing services, and whose responsibility
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          2  is to ensure that every City resident can access

          3  services. Our role is to help them make sure that

          4  they're meeting those goals, both in terms of

          5  looking at things like the cultural competency of

          6  the workers who are providing the services, the

          7  linguistic ability.

          8                 So, I don't know that an exponential

          9  growth in our office is even a personal

         10  philosophical goal of mine and the Administration's.

         11  The Administration's goal is to ensure that people

         12  can access services. Now, if HRA is supposed to

         13  enroll people in the food stamp program, our role is

         14  not to have 50 people in our office who can help HRA

         15  enroll people, but to ensure that HRA has in place

         16  the mechanisms to reach immigrants eligible for

         17  that.

         18                 Similarly with an organization like,

         19  with an agency like the Department of Youth and

         20  Community Development, our role is to ensure that

         21  community-based organizations know that they can go

         22  to DYCD to apply for monies, not to create a new pot

         23  of money that would be administered to the Office of

         24  Immigrant Affairs for these groups.

         25                 So, I think it's a matter of that
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          2  debate about expanding the budget is relatively

          3  non-existent because we don't see it as part and

          4  parcel of what we're trying to do in working with

          5  the agencies to improve access to services.

          6                 Each of the staff members of our

          7  office have a very specific role related to

          8  expanding access, to City services, not to creating

          9  new programs, because we believe the programs

         10  already exist. We believe that overall the City is

         11  doing a good job of reaching people and that our

         12  office's role is to fine-tune that, if you will, and

         13  bring to the table perspectives about cultural

         14  competency that might not have been at the table

         15  before.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: I understand

         17  that, but when you mention that 8,000, you responded

         18  to 8,000 telephone inquiries and immigration issues

         19  that would call directly to you, to your agency.

         20                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Right.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Not to HRA,

         22  not having to do anything with issues of HRA, no

         23  issues of DYCD, no issues of programs, we're talking

         24  a specific, an individual or individuals that are

         25  reaching to the City agencies for matters of
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          2  immigration, how will you deal with it when those

          3  numbers start increasing.

          4                 Will you be referring to 311?

          5                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Let me say

          6  that technically those inquiries that we are talking

          7  about are purely immigration inquiries for people

          8  who have been waiting an extraordinarily long time

          9  for their applications to be processed.

         10                 Let's just say we had ten people

         11  taking those calls. All of those ten people, if they

         12  got ten times more calls, would still be calling the

         13  same place at the CIS to get an answer. So, from a

         14  technical standpoint, I think it's really important

         15  for us to understanding, it's only so much that we

         16  can do at a City level on immigration. What we can

         17  do is advocate for more resources at the federal

         18  level to respond to all these people who are waiting

         19  for extraordinarily lengths of time.

         20                 But the fact that ten more people are

         21  taking inquiries is not going to result in ten times

         22  more resolved cases. You know what I'm saying? Like

         23  we would just take these calls and then we'd still

         24  have to be calling the same three people at CIS, and

         25  what would probably happen, I would speculate, is
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          2  that it would take us longer to resolve cases,

          3  because those same three people at CIS would be

          4  trying to respond to ten times more inquiries.

          5                 So, I think it's important to

          6  differentiate between what we can do as a City

          7  agency, and what we really can advocate for at the

          8  federal level, but cannot actually make into

          9  reality.

         10                 And I focused on the inquiries on

         11  immigration, only because this is the Immigration

         12  Committee. You know, if you were kind enough to

         13  invite me to testify so I can go through all these

         14  questions again, I can talk about all the other

         15  inquiries that our office does respond to that are

         16  not related to immigration and that tend to be

         17  referrals to other agencies or just -- and those

         18  numbers have increased dramatically since 311 has

         19  been instituted, so now people can call directly to

         20  311.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: No, I

         22  understand that clearly.

         23                 For example, in my district office,

         24  you go to my district office, and I will ask you,

         25  will welcome you and ask you to visit on a Thursday,
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          2  Thursday it's immigration day in my office, and, you

          3  know, with issues of inquiries --

          4                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Right.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Status of

          6  citizenship, help them fill out an application,

          7  which I don't expect the agency to get involved in,

          8  which DYCD does an excellent job on those matters,

          9  in terms of citizenship and so forth.

         10                 And just the fact that it's

         11  immigration day and people can go there to get

         12  information, the line will -- we have to close the

         13  doors on Thursday, and just the fact that now the

         14  City recognizes the need through the ballot Charter

         15  proposal that was approved by the citizens of New

         16  York City, that we have this now, I'm sure that your

         17  phone will continue to increase in terms of the

         18  amount of calls and inquiry that you're going to

         19  get.

         20                 So, that's something that worries me,

         21  in terms of you having that infrastructure to

         22  respond just to the inquiry, to be able to refer to

         23  whatever other agency. That's one.

         24                 The other issue that I wanted to

         25  mention, has the Administration taken a position yet
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          2  on the proposed immigration reform that the Bush

          3  Administration is putting forward?

          4                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: I'll just

          5  answer to that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Sorry.

          7                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: That's okay.

          8                 What I said was that the Mayor has

          9  always supported amnesty and, you know, he has

         10  commended the President for raising the issue of

         11  immigration again, and starting to talk about it,

         12  but that ultimately what we believe is that their

         13  only way to really integrate immigrants into society

         14  is to offer a path to full citizenship.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Now, had

         16  your agency taken proactive measures in reference to

         17  law 38, in ensuring that all agency in complying?

         18                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Yes, we're

         19  starting to work with the agencies now on their

         20  implementation plan.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Would you be

         22  putting forward a report on that?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: You mean a

         24  publicly available report?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: A report to
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          2  this Committee.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: If that's

          4  something that you want. We have no plans to issue a

          5  published document, but certainly we can talk to you

          6  about -- it's been only about six weeks, it was

          7  issued two weeks before the holidays. So, you know,

          8  we've started to work with the agencies and to

          9  discuss with them their implementation plan. That is

         10  part of our role, so we certainly will be continuing

         11  to do that, and will be happy to report on progress.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you.

         13                 Mr. Chair, if I may ask, I believe it

         14  would be important for us, when the Commissioner

         15  makes that inquiry, for us to know how compliance

         16  among City agencies with Intro. 38, Law 38 is going.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Definitely we

         18  are going to be doing some follow-up with the

         19  Commissioner on such issues.

         20                 Are you finished?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Yes, thank

         22  you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes. At this

         24  time I would like to welcome my colleague and friend

         25  from Brooklyn, the one who has the mosaic of
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          2  immigrants in her district, people from all over the

          3  world, that is Council Member Yvette Clarke, and I

          4  think she has a question.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chair. And I am so excited to see that we have

          7  convened the standing committee. Congratulations to

          8  you in the new standing of this Committee. I think

          9  it's been quite appropriate for the Council to raise

         10  the level of the Committee to one of a standing

         11  committee, and it's quite appropriate that it's

         12  happened now because I think for just about every

         13  New Yorker, the realization of our origins and who

         14  we are as a City has a lot to do with the fact that

         15  immigration has been the mode in which this City has

         16  become populated and has brought about such dynamics

         17  that makes the City so unique.

         18                 Let me just ask a question, and I

         19  would like to say good afternoon to you.

         20                 In a follow-up to Council Member

         21  Martinez that he asked about the implementation of

         22  the local law for accessibility based on language to

         23  our agencies, has there been a timetable set for

         24  when we expect to see complete implementation and

         25  integration of a process for that?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Well, it's

          3  very detailed in the law. I don't have those details

          4  in front of me, but there's a pretty clear timeline.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: And you

          6  anticipate being able to meet that?

          7                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Well, we

          8  anticipate working with the agencies to help them

          9  meet that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Right. And

         11  your experience in at least the brief discussions

         12  you've had thus far, has that been made a priority

         13  with the understanding there's a timetable for

         14  accomplishing it?

         15                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: I mean, I

         16  guess I would say that we've been working with the

         17  agencies on language access all along since I've

         18  been in office, and I think a large issue, there's

         19  an expectation that we're going to follow the

         20  timeline. We haven't had a conversation about not

         21  meeting the timeline.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Yes, I think

         23  it's important that we do, because there are a lot

         24  of priorities under just about every agency, and

         25  there are a lot of demands coming from every area
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          2  and what happens often times is that, you know,

          3  commissioners are forced to make these priorities

          4  and I think we need to get an indication of when we

          5  can report back to the City of New York that this is

          6  in total effect, it's not enough to just say we have

          7  the law on the books, but that it's in total effect,

          8  and, you know, it really facilitates a way of life

          9  for people on a regular and on a daily basis.

         10                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Well, I guess

         11  what I meant by that is that there is a clear

         12  understanding that we have a law that we're supposed

         13  to follow, not just that there's a law that's in the

         14  books, and that there is a clear commitment on the

         15  part of the Administration. And you didn't hear the

         16  first part of my testimony, but I think the

         17  establishment of 311 and the complete language

         18  access that the Mayor has been committed to makes it

         19  clear to the Commissioners that language access is a

         20  priority. So, I don't anticipate that we will have

         21  any delays in implementing the law.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: That's great.

         23  I want to thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you.

         25                 Commissioner, I don't think there are
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          2  any more questions. But first I want to thank you

          3  for your testimony, and I want to thank you for

          4  making me feel welcome. I hope we can work together

          5  to make sure that we get the information out there

          6  as far as immigration is concerned, and how we can

          7  help our mutual constituents. And I hope to at least

          8  visit your office and sit down and talk about these

          9  great things that we can do jointly. And if there's

         10  any way that I can facilitate us working closer

         11  together, please let me know. Thank you.

         12                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: Thank you. And

         13  thanks for having me.

         14                 I actually just want to say that it's

         15  been helpful to me to hear the questions, because it

         16  gives me a better sense of, we work on so many

         17  issues, it's been helpful to know what the specific

         18  issues that you all are interested in, and I'm happy

         19  to meet with any of you individually or as a

         20  Committee or to come back and testify in more detail

         21  about the types of issues that you're interested in.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:

         24  Commissioner, where is your office?

         25                 COMMISSIONER BHOJWANI: At 100 Gold.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Oh, you're

          3  at 100 Gold. Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Our next panel I

          5  will call on Mr. Perez. Is he here? How about

          6  Roberta Herche, from the New York Association for

          7  New Americans, Incorporated.

          8                 How about Maria Bottino? Come up.

          9  Maria Bottino?

         10                 Please identify yourself for the

         11  record and you can begin.

         12                 MS. HERCHE: Mr. Chairman, and members

         13  of the New York City Council Committee on

         14  Immigration, my name is Roberta Herche. I'm the Vice

         15  President of Planning and Development for New York

         16  Association for New Americans, NYNA.

         17                 For nearly 55 years NYNA has improved

         18  the quality of American life by improving the lives

         19  of new Americans. With the core mission to assist

         20  refugees and immigrants achieve economic

         21  self-sufficiency, social integration and

         22  naturalization as quickly as possible.

         23                 Over the decades, NYNA has served

         24  over 500,000 refugees and thousands of economic

         25  immigrants from over 150 countries. We provide a
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          2  wide range of social aculturation,

          3  English-as-a-second-language, employment, economic

          4  development, education, citizenship and legal

          5  services.

          6                 As we have talked about today, close

          7  to 40 percent of the population living in the five

          8  boroughs of New York City are foreign-born.

          9                 The Mayor's Office of Immigrant

         10  Affairs is well positioned to have a pivotal role in

         11  improving the lives of these individuals and

         12  families.

         13                 A significant portion of New Yorkers

         14  who are refugees and immigrants have specialized

         15  needs to enable them to become fully enfranchised

         16  members of our society.

         17                 Unfortunately, there isn't enough

         18  funding, and therefore, not enough services to meet

         19  those needs.

         20                 Every recent administration has

         21  pointed with pride to the welcomed given immigrants

         22  and their tremendous contribution to the City has

         23  been acknowledged; however, the underlying

         24  operational imperative is the mythology that somehow

         25  they just make it on their own.
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          2                 Faced with this, the Mayor's Office

          3  of Immigrant Affairs is positioned to bring reality

          4  to the forefront. The mission and the goals of the

          5  office reflect this focus, and the current

          6  commissioner has an established record of commitment

          7  and effectiveness in the immigrant community.

          8                 Working together with diverse

          9  immigrant communities -- my second page has been --

         10  sorry, thank you.

         11                 Working with diverse immigrant

         12  communities with non-profit providers and

         13  community-based organizations, and the field of

         14  academic and policy research, this office knows the

         15  needs of our immigrants and refugees.

         16                 The ability of agencies such as NYNA

         17  to assist refugees and immigrants is dependent upon

         18  the financial resources that funders provide.

         19                 As government funding has decreased

         20  there are specific immigrant services that are

         21  either underfunded or unfunded all together.

         22                 One of these critical services is

         23  English-as-a-second-language. Limited English

         24  language skills have been closely linked to poverty.

         25  Linguistically isolated families are on the rise,
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          2  while ESL funding continues to decline. The result

          3  is that these individuals and families have limited

          4  access to the social service economic health care

          5  education and civic participation systems in our

          6  society.

          7                 Another major area of concern, is the

          8  availability of professional and affordable

          9  immigration focused legal assistance.

         10                 Legal services are critical for

         11  impoverished immigrants and refugees, yet they are

         12  largely unfunded and therefore available only from a

         13  limited number of non-profit providers.

         14                 In desperation, many immigrants turn

         15  to questionable sources of assistance. Vulnerable to

         16  the slightest bit of bad legal information,

         17  immigrants can find that their cases are prolonged

         18  or their applications denied.

         19                 They can lose their authorization to

         20  work, be denied reunification with family members,

         21  and even face deportation. The decision to

         22  adequately fund the existing and developing

         23  services, so desperately needed in this community

         24  rests with City government.

         25                 We encourage the Commissioner of the
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          2  Mayor's Office of Immigrant Affairs to continue to

          3  speak on behalf of the City's immigrant communities.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 MS. BOTTINO: Good afternoon, members

          6  of the City Council, Mr. Chair. My name is Maria

          7  Bottino, I am Director of Government Affairs for

          8  Asian Americans For Equality.

          9                 Asian Americans For Equality or AAFE,

         10  is an organization with a 30-year history in

         11  Chinatown and Flushing, Queens.

         12                 We serve about 22,000 clients every

         13  year providing them with access to services, helping

         14  them with tools for economic empowerment, home

         15  ownership and English as a Second Language courses

         16  and other sources of assistance.

         17                 AAFE welcomes the creation of a full

         18  committee devoted to immigrant issues in the City

         19  Council. We sincerely hope that together with the

         20  Mayor's Office of Immigrant Affairs this body will

         21  help address the many difficulties that face

         22  immigrant families, who constitute more than 50

         23  percent of the population of the City.

         24                 As this Committee is aware, there is

         25  acute need for expanding services to reach deep into
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          2  the immigrant community. English As A Second

          3  Language programs for immigrants to gain the

          4  necessary language skills to integrate into the

          5  American Society and seek opportunities to raise

          6  their family is one of those critical programs.

          7                 The Committee should play a pivotal

          8  role in advocating for the expansion of these

          9  programs and securing additional funds.

         10                 As always, housing is a major

         11  problem, both with regard of availability of

         12  affordable units and the quality of housing.

         13                 Additionally, as immigrants move to

         14  purchase their home or begin to expand their

         15  business centers, their interaction with the

         16  mainstream banking system can be hindrance, rather

         17  than a means to an end.

         18                 The Committee should support programs

         19  that facilitate immigrants dealing with financial

         20  institutions and monitor cases of discrimination.

         21                 Another area of discrimination is in

         22  terms of immigrant rights, civil rights. Since

         23  September 11th, immigrants have faced growing

         24  suspicion and hostility in an uncertain world, as

         25  many Americans fear threats from abroad.
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          2                 Another area of critical concern is

          3  health care. It is essential for immigrant

          4  communities to gain access to medical care through

          5  programs that facilitate enrollment and provide for

          6  language and cultural accessibility.

          7                 These efforts save lives and save

          8  money, preventing immigrants from resorting to last

          9  resort measures, such as emergency services.

         10                 To some extent parts of City

         11  government have taken steps towards addressing these

         12  concerns.

         13                 AAFE joined the Mayor's Office of

         14  Immigrant Affairs in promoting Mayor's Executive

         15  Order 41, which created new protections for

         16  confidentiality that extended coverage for

         17  undocumented immigrants.

         18                 We believe that such efforts at

         19  outreach are crucial to helping immigrants

         20  understand their rights under the law, as they may

         21  not otherwise comprehend City policies because of

         22  language difficulties or unfamiliarity with

         23  governmental processes.

         24                 We look forward to similar

         25  cooperation with the Council's Immigration Committee
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          2  in the future, as we work to push through

          3  legislation that will better the lives of Asian

          4  immigrants and their neighbors.

          5                 More resources should be made

          6  available for outreach, as well as enforcement of

          7  immigrant policies. And City agencies, such as the

          8  Immigrant Affairs Office, could always use more

          9  resources to effectively carry out their mission.

         10                 We hope this Committee will not only

         11  add its voice in support, but also take a leading

         12  role in this effort.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I have a

         15  question.

         16                 You mentioned about the Mayor's

         17  Office of Immigrant Affairs, but how does the

         18  office, Mayor's Office of Immigrant Affairs help

         19  you? How do they help you directly?

         20                 I know that you both mentioned about

         21  ways in which they can do things, but I want to know

         22  specifically how do they really help you now?

         23  Because the office has been there and we want to

         24  know that they work in organizations like your

         25  organizations to assist you in doing things to help
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          2  immigrants.

          3                 MS. BOTTINO: Yes, one way that they

          4  have directly assisted us has been to try to

          5  coordinate English language access of all the

          6  services that different agencies provide. They're

          7  trying to coordinate, one, the preparation of the

          8  staff that different agencies have on board and who

          9  are dealing with non-English speaking clients, and

         10  they are also trying to prepare material in

         11  different languages so that this information the

         12  different agencies provide can be made accessible to

         13  different communities.

         14                 I know that that's one of their major

         15  efforts that they've dedicated themselves to in the

         16  few years since the Commissioner has been in office.

         17                 MS. HERCHE: Also, we have a number of

         18  our organizations are members of the New York

         19  Immigration Coalition and the Commissioner, having

         20  been involved with the Coalition in the past, and in

         21  her ongoing work in the immigrant communities, has

         22  been someone that we can talk to and reach in terms

         23  of the advocacy issues on some of the various bills

         24  that were passed recently. So that I think in terms

         25  of the advocacy piece, the bigger picture, the
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          2  office is very effective, with the one caveat that

          3  there is also the issue of what do the -- if it's

          4  the Mayor, what does the Mayor want to hear, what is

          5  the agenda? You know, the office can work on our

          6  behalf, but can only do as much as what is on the

          7  larger agenda. And, so, happily, the issues recently

          8  have worked to the benefit of the immigrant advocacy

          9  community.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you.

         11                 Council Member Martinez.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

         13  Mr. Chair.

         14                 In your testimony, Ms. Herche, you

         15  make reference to a serious issue that is affecting

         16  a lot of the immigrant community, and in fact, I'm

         17  going to be reintroducing a resolution, Resolution

         18  240, that calls on the State Assembly and Senate to

         19  pass a bill that will change the criminal

         20  procurement laws that will advise, if this bill

         21  passes in Albany, advise those who are detained,

         22  especially immigrants of the possibility of

         23  deportation for a guilty plea.

         24                 As you know, currently many, not

         25  knowing the consequences of a guilty plea, find
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          2  themself after serving sentence for whatever plea --

          3  sentence they agreed to, are going through a

          4  deportation process afterwards, not knowing that

          5  that's one of the consequences.

          6                 The same is true in reference to the

          7  individuals that are authorized or those who give

          8  ill-advice to immigrants; can I ask you a question

          9  on that? What would you suggest should be the role

         10  of the Council or this Committee in dealing with

         11  that particular situation?

         12                 Because I know we read about it every

         13  day or every week there's a story in the paper of an

         14  agency that, you know, put up a sign, that they do

         15  immigration, the next think you know they are being

         16  shut down by the authority, they were not licensed

         17  or they were not doing the right thing.

         18                 Now, is it the Department of Consumer

         19  Affairs that needs to be -- how do you see the

         20  Council working with you in addressing that

         21  particular matter?

         22                 MS. HERCHE: In the past I believe it

         23  was the Office of Immigrant Affairs in the previous

         24  Administration had been involved in a lot of work

         25  about fraud, you know, which is what it is. And they
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          2  were very active, and I believe it has continued.

          3                 Your participation and advocacy, we

          4  watched what's happening in Albany, and, so, support

          5  for organizations such as, both of our organizations

          6  that provide legal services, and there is an

          7  accreditation you can get, it's sort of like the

          8  good housekeeping seal of approval, from the Bureau

          9  of Immigration Appeal, the BIA, and our organization

         10  has gone through it, most of the non-profit

         11  providers go through this. I believe at one point I

         12  read in the law that that was written in that that

         13  was an important part to endorse providers that are

         14  legitimate, and supporting the law would be

         15  wonderful, and also you actually mentioned more

         16  resources for the office, you know, if there was a

         17  possibility for the Office to continue to do its

         18  work on this issue, it's just critical, it comes up

         19  all the time, we're dealing with it now, we deal

         20  with it all the time where even in marketing our

         21  services at a low fee, there's always somebody who

         22  will do it for less, and because there isn't

         23  funding, we have to charge a minimal fee and people

         24  will still go to those places that will charge less,

         25  because they can't afford it and then they get
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          2  ripped off.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: So, there's

          4  a list that comes from the federal government of

          5  accredited vendors?

          6                 MS. HERCHE: Yes. There is a list,

          7  because we have this accreditation.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: So, to your

          9  knowledge, let's say I wanted to open up a store and

         10  I wanted to do Notary Republic, usually when you see

         11  Notary Republic you will see immigration, and in

         12  many of our culture when we see Notary Republic we

         13  think, we tend to think that they're lawyers and

         14  that's coming from back home.

         15                 So, what will you suggest in terms of

         16  working with that list that comes from the federal

         17  government, and the City that has to issue some

         18  permit, if they're going -- let's say I'm going to

         19  get a permit, because I'm going to redo the store,

         20  the structure, and if I ask for what purpose it is,

         21  as soon as they tell me immigration, would it be a

         22  good idea to have that person produce their

         23  accredited, their certification for the federal

         24  government, or should the Department of Consumer

         25  Affairs, whenever they talk about immigration have
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          2  to refer to this list? Do you know that's happening?

          3                 MS. HERCHE: I don't know any of that

          4  is happening. I think that people have complaints to

          5  the Office of Consumer Affairs, that's my

          6  understanding from the past, but I don't know what

          7  oversight currently is being done, because it just

          8  seems to continue to proliferate.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Yes.

         10                 MS. HERCHE: You know, as a major --

         11  because it's a major need in the community, and

         12  because the need isn't able to be met, because there

         13  isn't the funding to support the services, people

         14  are going to get that need met somehow, and when

         15  they don't speak English, and they have these

         16  complicated forms, it's like a vicious circle.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Yes.

         18                 Finally, you agree with me that we

         19  should increase that budget, right?

         20                 MS. HERCHE: I don't know that that's

         21  in my purview.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you,

         23  Council Member Martinez.

         24                 On that issue from Immigration

         25  Services, I think we have a bill that we're going to
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          2  be introducing and we have been working it out with

          3  the Immigration Coalition to deal with immigration,

          4  that particular issue that you spoke about, so you

          5  should be seeing it very soon. And I know you're

          6  going to be signing onto that.

          7                 Seeing no other questions, I want to

          8  thank you very much for your testimony, and we'll be

          9  reaching out to you again.

         10                 MS. HERCHE: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: The next panel

         12  is Ms. Udi Ofer, from New York CLU, NYCLU; and also

         13  Jeff Fagel, from Center for Institutional Rights.

         14  Jeff.

         15                 You will first identify yourself and

         16  then you may begin.

         17                 MR. OFER: My name is Udi Ofer. I'm an

         18  attorney at the New York Civil Liberties Union, and

         19  Director of our Bill of Rights Defense Campaign.

         20                 For those who don't know, the New

         21  York Civil Liberties Union is the State affiliate of

         22  the American Civil Liberties Union.

         23                 Since 1951, the NYCLU has been our

         24  State's leading advocate on behalf of New Yorkers'

         25  civil rights and civil liberties, as articulated in
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          2  the Bill of Rights of the US Constitution and the

          3  Constitution of the State of New York.

          4                 I present testimony today to urge the

          5  New York City Council and the Mayor's Office of

          6  Immigrant Affairs to begin overseeing the impact of

          7  anti-terrorism initiatives and members of the Arab,

          8  Muslim and South Asian communities in New York City.

          9                 There is a tremendous amount of

         10  evidence detailing civil liberties violations by

         11  federal government officials against members of the

         12  Arab, Muslim and South Asian communities.

         13                 These infringements on civil

         14  liberties and civil rights have been conducted in

         15  the name of national security. It is the duty of New

         16  York City government to inform itself on what has

         17  been happening in our own city.

         18                 In response of the September 11

         19  attacks of 2001, the government reacted with

         20  extraordinary speed to create expansive new police

         21  powers in the effort to combat terrorism.

         22                 But it is not well documented that

         23  these new powers authorized by the US State Patriot

         24  Act as Council Member Bill Perkins mentioned

         25  earlier, Presidential directives, FBI regulations,
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          2  court rulings, executive fiat, and more, have

          3  seriously undermined longstanding constitutional

          4  protections afforded individual privacy, lawful

          5  political expression, due process of law, and

          6  immigrant rights.

          7                 Government officials have been

          8  conducting detentions without charges, for using

          9  personal records, monitoring private communications

         10  without legal basis, engaging in widespread ethnic

         11  and religious profiling and conducting secret

         12  judicial proceedings.

         13                 These new powers have impacted New

         14  York City residents in particular. The Inspector

         15  General's Office of the Justice Department has

         16  issued several reports detailing instances of civil

         17  liberties and civil rights abuses against New York

         18  City residents at the hands of federal authorities.

         19                 In the Midwood section of Brooklyn

         20  alone, one neighborhood in Brooklyn, the Pakistani

         21  government estimates that roughly 15,000 residents

         22  have left or have been deported to Canada, Europe or

         23  Pakistan.

         24                 Stores report business being down by

         25  40 percent and the local Mosque being one-third
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          2  empty, after previously being overcrowded during

          3  Friday night prayers.

          4                 The Washington Post, the New York

          5  Times, the Village Voice, have all ran articles on

          6  this issue, New York City government is glaringly

          7  absent.

          8                 The New York City Council already

          9  expressed its concern of a civil rights and civil

         10  liberties violations in the fight against terrorism.

         11                 On February 4th, 2004, at the last

         12  Stated Council Meeting, the Council passed

         13  Resolution 60, which calls upon government officials

         14  to protect civil rights and civil liberties while

         15  prosecuting the fight against terrorism.

         16                 Resolution 60 calls upon federal

         17  officials to make periodic rewards in achieving

         18  anti-terrorism powers in New York City.

         19                 The New York City Council and the

         20  Mayor's Office of Immigrant Affairs have the

         21  responsibility of keeping itself and the public

         22  informed on what has been happening to New York City

         23  residents in the name of national security.

         24                 There is a summary in the written

         25  testimony in what has been happening to New York
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          2  City residents since 9/11.

          3                 I'll go through this quickly, but

          4  it's in the written testimony, for you to see.

          5  Because this has been well documented, and this

          6  entire written testimony is filled with footnotes,

          7  so you could even do further research on your own or

          8  you could call our office or the Center for

          9  Constitutional Rights.

         10                 But I'll use two examples to outline.

         11  There's the experience of the September 11th

         12  detainees, which I'm sure my colleagues will talk

         13  about, and these are the hundreds, if not thousands

         14  of immigrants, who are rounded up in the days, weeks

         15  and months following 9/11.

         16                 Many of them were put in a

         17  communications blackout, after they were detained.

         18  Family members described them as having disappeared.

         19  They were held for weeks without charges, in

         20  solitary confinement if they were held in the

         21  Metropolitan Detention Center in Brooklyn, denied

         22  access to counsel, held for months and months for

         23  minor Visa violations, and they were all 100 percent

         24  eventually cleared of terrorism.

         25                 This happened to at least 762
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          2  immigrants, but the number could be as high as a few

          3  thousand. We don't know. And it's the

          4  responsibility, we believe, of the New York City

          5  Council and the Mayor's Office to find out what has

          6  been happening in our own City under the rubric of

          7  the fight against terrorism.

          8                 In addition, you have a special

          9  registration program where over 82,000 Arab, Muslim

         10  and South Asian men voluntarily registered with the

         11  United States government. Over 13,000 were put in

         12  deportation proceedings. Zero of those were ever

         13  charged with terrorism. Yet, it was done in the name

         14  of national security.

         15                 But let me ask you one thing: How

         16  many of you think that if you're planning a

         17  terrorist attack against the United States

         18  government, you're going to voluntarily register

         19  with the United States government? That was the

         20  rationale of the program.

         21                 It has had a devastating impact on

         22  communities in New York City.

         23                 I want to repeat the example of the

         24  Midwood section of Brooklyn, because there's been a

         25  lot of documentation on what has been happening to
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          2  that one community, but none of that documentation

          3  has come from the New York City government, and I

          4  think it's a must for the Mayor's Office, for this

          5  Committee, to look at these neighborhoods, to go

          6  into them and to investigate and to issue a report.

          7  What has been the impact on immigrant communities

          8  due to these anti-terrorism initiatives? And then,

          9  you know, maybe even make the decision on whether

         10  it's making us any safer.

         11                 I conclude with that.

         12                 MR. FOGEL: Mr. Chair and members of

         13  the Council, my name is Jeffrey Fogel, I'm the Legal

         14  Director of the Center for Constitutional Rights. I

         15  apologize, due to the time constraints I was unable

         16  to prepare written testimony, but I hope to do so

         17  and submit the same to you all by Friday.

         18                 The Center for Constitutional Rights

         19  is an organization founded in 1966, dedicated to the

         20  creative use of the law to support people's

         21  constitutional and human rights. And I emphasize for

         22  this purposes, human rights, because there are a lot

         23  of court decisions, which are seeking to distinguish

         24  between the rights of American citizens, rights of

         25  documented aliens and the right of undocumented
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          2  aliens. We believe that these are all human rights,

          3  I think much of the world is starting to conclude

          4  that these are human rights that should not be

          5  bounded by any geographical limitation.

          6                 Rather than repeat anything that's

          7  been said, and much has been said that I would have

          8  said by my colleague Udi, I just want to make some

          9  discreet comments.

         10                 As he said, it is important to note

         11  that the constrictions that we've seen on civil

         12  rights and civil liberties after 9/11 has been born

         13  primarily by the immigrant community, and by a

         14  particular segment of that community that we're all

         15  aware of in the South Asian, the Muslim and Arab

         16  communities.

         17                 Therefore, there are many people in

         18  our society who do not see the constrictions on

         19  civil liberties, because it is not yet, at least

         20  yet, affecting them. We must stand by the sides of

         21  our brothers and sisters who are affected by this

         22  and who are being arbitrarily treated by the

         23  national government, and to a certain extent, by our

         24  local government as well.

         25                 And in that regard, I'd like to
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          2  mention two things that I think can be strengthened

          3  in Executive Order 41.

          4                 Executive Order 41 is very important,

          5  and as has been pointed out, I believe in a memo

          6  submitted to this Committee, one of the concerns we

          7  have is what's called the Clear Act, which will

          8  direct local law enforcement to be essentially an

          9  arm of the Department of Homeland Security in the

         10  enforcement of Immigration law. It's not

         11  appropriate. I think if you'll talk to police chiefs

         12  around the country, they don't want that job.

         13  There's too much work to be done combatting crime

         14  for them to be involved in combatting minor civil

         15  violations of our immigration law.

         16                 Now, beyond that, with respect to

         17  Executive Order 41, I think it can be strengthened

         18  in two respects, it allows for confidential

         19  information about someone's immigration status, to

         20  be revealed by a City employee, where the subject of

         21  the disclosure is suspected by the officer, just

         22  suspected by engaging in illegal activity which is

         23  defined as unlawful activity.

         24                 Now, taking this to its ultimate

         25  extreme, it would allow an officer who believed that
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          2  somebody was jay-walking, because that's unlawful in

          3  our City, use that as a basis to reveal information

          4  about the immigration status.

          5                 So, if we're going to go that route,

          6  it's got to be serious criminal activity. But even

          7  where serious criminal activity, why should the

          8  disclosure of you immigration status be based on

          9  suspicions?

         10                 After all, we have a criminal justice

         11  system which presumes innocence, and that measure of

         12  innocence should be maintained whether it's in the

         13  immigration area, or any other area. It's only upon

         14  conviction does that become a relevant consideration

         15  for the immigration authorities, and I would urge

         16  the Council and the members of this Committee to

         17  work with the Mayor's Office to try to strengthen

         18  that executive order in that respect.

         19                 Now, with respect to the Office of

         20  Immigrant Affairs of the Mayor, just one further

         21  suggestion other than what's already been made,

         22  which is I have noted in the City there are some

         23  elements of anti-immigrant animus developing. Two of

         24  them that I can point to that I was aware of. One

         25  was a meeting has been scheduled on Staten Island
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          2  for people who were opposed to the notion of day

          3  laborers, they are drawing on people from elsewhere

          4  in the tristate area.

          5                 In addition, we did see some

          6  anti-immigrant animus in Queens when people were

          7  objecting to the fact that certain small business

          8  signs were written in a foreign language, and

          9  demanded that those signs also be in an English

         10  language.

         11                 Again, I think that reflects a

         12  certain amount of anti-immigrant status,

         13  anti-immigrant animus in a City which has been noted

         14  more times than I care to remember, is based on

         15  immigrants and whose vitality, culturally and

         16  economically, is dependent on immigrant community.

         17  And that's an area where I think traditionally

         18  somebody like a Mayor or a Mayor's commission, or a

         19  Mayor's Commissioner, can step in on behalf of the

         20  immigrant community to work with those who are

         21  reflecting this anti-immigrant bias, both to reason

         22  with those people, but also to draw a wedge between

         23  those people, and to hope that it's not spread

         24  further because of the importance of the immigrant

         25  community to us.
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          2                 Another area where I think the City

          3  could be looking at, and it was raised with the

          4  previous panel, which is an increase in the amount

          5  of money so that there would be lawyers available to

          6  immigrants who need this kind of help.

          7                 Now, in many areas, as you know,

          8  there are accredited non-profit agencies, accredited

          9  by the immigration service, to appear before it.

         10                 Now, often people's cases require

         11  more than somebody who has some basic training in

         12  immigration work, they require a lawyer, and that is

         13  not generally available to the immigrant community,

         14  unless they are very well off, and we're usually not

         15  talking about undocumented immigrants when we're

         16  talking about the very well off segment of the

         17  community.

         18                 Now, I realize this is money and this

         19  is something you have to consider, and you consider

         20  all kinds of money, but, for example, there are

         21  places in the country where Legal Aid Society,

         22  Public Defenders Offices, are providing assistance

         23  to immigrant communities because the body politic in

         24  those areas have provided the money to be able to do

         25  so.
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          2                 Finally, I think it is very

          3  important, notwithstanding the fact that the City

          4  has no control over national immigration policy, for

          5  the City to be speaking out on that policy. And two

          6  of those areas have always been discussed. One of

          7  them was what I call the practice in immigration,

          8  the other is immigration policy.

          9                 In the practice area, as Udi

         10  mentioned, there was a very serious situation in the

         11  City right after 9/11. My office represents the

         12  class of people who were swept up after 9/11 and we

         13  don't even know how many, they may even number in

         14  the thousands, many whom were from New York City,

         15  who principally were targeted simply because of

         16  either their ethnicity, or their religion, many of

         17  them held on minor charges, many of them deported,

         18  and then held for up to a year thereafter, after

         19  being deported. As, quote, special interest case, so

         20  they could be investigated for any ties to

         21  terrorism.

         22                 Now, we know beyond a doubt at this

         23  juncture, because of the report of the Office of the

         24  Inspector General of the Justice Department itself,

         25  that the Justice Department did not act quickly to
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          2  clear those people, did not really care about them,

          3  and then after a year deported them. Many of these

          4  people's lives were destroyed on lost jobs, unable

          5  to maintain mortgages, thrown out of the country,

          6  their family members are still here, children who

          7  are American citizens, perhaps spouses, wives or

          8  partners who are American citizens as well. And I

          9  can assure you, based on my personal involvement in

         10  some of these cases, you don't even get an apology

         11  from the United States government for having done

         12  that, no less reparations, which is really what

         13  these people deserve.

         14                 And so I think it's important the

         15  City sees what's going on. It's happening under our

         16  noses. We had people who were physically and

         17  verbally harassed and abused in Brooklyn at a

         18  federal detention center, right here in our own

         19  City. We should not tolerate that. That's not to say

         20  that we should get ourselves a standing army and

         21  take on the federal government, I don't think we

         22  could do that, but we certainly can stand, the Mayor

         23  can stand on the so-called bully pulpit, the Council

         24  can stand as well, in challenging the federal

         25  government to what they're doing to our residents
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          2  here in the City, in terms of mistreating them, in

          3  arbitrarily arresting and detaining them, and in the

          4  mistreatment that many of them have been subjected

          5  to in the confines of that.

          6                 And I can only tell you how difficult

          7  it is for us lawyers to deal with these problems. We

          8  have now got a class of people, all of whom have

          9  been deported, none of them are allowed to come back

         10  to this country. That means as we work on this case,

         11  even in identifying the guards who assaulted or

         12  verbally harassed our clients, we have to ourselves

         13  go all over the world to bring pictures to people,

         14  show it to them, because the United States

         15  government won't even allow them to reenter for the

         16  purpose of seeking redress in our courts for the

         17  conduct of the United States government.

         18                 I call on the Council to assist us in

         19  demanding the federal government make available its

         20  courts for redress for conduct that's engaged in by

         21  the government.

         22                 We also should take on, in our

         23  opinion, the policy that's being advanced by the

         24  Bush Administration for immigration. Because I think

         25  it's much more serious than has been suggested. It's

                                                            92

          1  COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  not a good opening gambit. What it is, is a policy

          3  that's designed to serve Corporate America, to have

          4  a large pool of low-paid workers who will have no

          5  rights, certainly no rights in the political

          6  process, who will be the most vulnerable of workers

          7  who can be thrown out of this country because

          8  they'll have no rights to stay here, and it

          9  satisfies that interest that the Bush Administration

         10  has always sought to satisfy. It does very little,

         11  if anything, for the immigrant community. And people

         12  will be afraid to come out even under that program

         13  because they know they won't get any rights, and, of

         14  course, they will not have any rights in the

         15  political process, and frankly, I was very excited

         16  to hear that the members of this Committee and the

         17  Council are talking about involving the immigrant

         18  community, albeit undocumented, in the political

         19  process in the City, whether it's school board

         20  election, for which most of the children are in our

         21  schools, and certainly they must have a right to

         22  speak about that, but they should, if possible, be

         23  brought into the entire political process in order

         24  to engage in all of the issues that affect their

         25  lives day-to-day in the same way that all of the
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          2  rest of our lives are adopted.

          3                 So, I'm excited to hear that this

          4  Committee and that the Council is considering that

          5  kind of measure. I urge you to give more money for

          6  the defense of immigrants and to speak out has you

          7  have on the Patriot Act on the issues affecting

          8  immigrants, arbitrary conduct by the federal

          9  government, arbitrary detentions and so on.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: You have just

         12  excited me in many ways.

         13                 You spoke about detention without

         14  charges, you spoke about pursuing personal records

         15  and all of those things, and you mentioned part of

         16  my district which is Midwood where we have the

         17  Pakistanis being ill-treated.

         18                 But mentioning all of that, we have

         19  sponsored resolutions condemning the Patriot Act and

         20  all of that, and we are trying to voice our opinion

         21  in many different ways.

         22                 My question is: Tell me what we can

         23  do specifically, or what we can encourage the

         24  Administration to do specifically also, to make a

         25  difference?
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          2                 Because as you know, we can only keep

          3  on talking and I raise the issue we can't make

          4  immigration laws, we can only bring awareness, et

          5  cetera, tell us specifically what you would like to

          6  see us do and let's see how we can at least maybe

          7  address this issue at a greater height.

          8                 MR. OFER: I think that the

          9  Immigration Committee, along with other committees,

         10  too, because for instance Governmental Operations

         11  Committee is interested in this, as well,

         12  investigate what has been the impact of these

         13  anti-terrorism initiatives on New York City

         14  residents, and publish a report, hold hearings,

         15  conduct press conferences, and find out what is the

         16  human cost on this so-called war on terrorism.

         17                 New York City is the place where the

         18  majority of the 9/11 attacks happened. It is in our

         19  name that domestic anti-terrorism policies and other

         20  policies as well, we're focusing on domestic

         21  anti-terrorism policies, are being implemented. New

         22  Yorkers were not only hurt by the attacks, by the

         23  terrorist attacks, but have also been hurt by the

         24  government responses. And I think it will make a

         25  tremendous statement that will have a huge impact
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          2  when the New York City Council goes into these

          3  communities, because I think actually we should be

          4  going to these communities and not the communities

          5  coming here, because for good reasons there's a lot

          6  of mistrust right now, for members of the Arab,

          7  Muslim and South Asian communities to come to a

          8  government building, to the New York City Council.

          9                 So, I think we should be going to

         10  those communities and talking to the people there,

         11  talking to the advocates, that some of them are in

         12  this room, of community-based organizations who have

         13  been working with the Arab and Muslim and South

         14  Asian communities and put a human face to it.

         15                 Because this is not a theoretical

         16  conversation. Thousands of families in New York City

         17  have been devastated because of these federal

         18  anti-terrorism initiatives.

         19                 We don't have a lack of stories, that

         20  will not be the difficult part, and this has to be

         21  documented. There hasn't been any official New York

         22  City government documentation of what's been

         23  happening in our own City, and we don't know what's

         24  been happening in terms of how large the numbers can

         25  be. We have plenty of stories, but we can't tell you
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          2  10,000 families have been affected, 20,000, because

          3  we just go into the communities and we don't have

          4  the resources to be able to conduct a full

          5  investigation, but you do.

          6                 The Justice Department's Inspector

          7  General's Office tried to do an investigation, and

          8  right now this is probably the number one reporting

          9  that has been done on this issue. And he focused

         10  largely on the Metropolitan Detention Center in

         11  Brooklyn, and according to the Justice Department,

         12  there was, quote, a pattern of physical and verbal

         13  abuse, against the detainees held in Brooklyn. This

         14  is our own City.

         15                 I recommend inviting Glenn Fein from

         16  the Justice Department to come testify before the

         17  hearing. He's a Justice Department official. He can

         18  provide you with his testimony. I think there is

         19  plenty that we can do, and I think this will be a

         20  good first step, is to hold hearings and conduct an

         21  investigation and issue a report on how members of

         22  the Arab, Muslim and South Asian Community have been

         23  impacted by anti-terrorism initiatives.

         24                 MR. FOGEL: I happen to think that's

         25  an excellent idea, and I think it's an excellent
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          2  idea so members of the Committee can go out to the

          3  communities where I think people will feel safer and

          4  more willing to be open with this Committee about

          5  the impact on their community of a variety of these

          6  federal programs, and perhaps also suggest to you

          7  the kinds of things that City services may be able

          8  to do to enhance their life and to offset some of

          9  the negative facts that they have involved.

         10                 As I said before, I think the

         11  Committee can also look at questions of whether or

         12  not there is any money in the budget to provide

         13  lawyers for undocumented workers, because really,

         14  people are at the mercy of this system, and if

         15  you're fortunate to be able to come across a

         16  non-profit that can help you, that's wonderful, but

         17  often their level of expertise has been in the

         18  filling out of papers, not in some of the sharper

         19  issues of deportation as well.

         20                 Those are the two immediate things

         21  that I would suggest.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: We welcome those

         23  suggestions, and we may take that under advisement

         24  and maybe this Committee will be going on the road

         25  during the summer when it's a little warmer.
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          2                 At this time I will call on my

          3  colleague and neighbor and friend, Council Member

          4  Clarke from Brooklyn.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chair.

          7                 And gentlemen, I just have to tell

          8  you that your presentations are really on the mark,

          9  and I think, I have a couple of questions, but my

         10  district adjoins Council Member Stewart's so I have

         11  heard the stories as well of the detentions and just

         12  the total disruption of life of so many of our

         13  constituents within the Pakistani community, and

         14  certainly your suggestions about actually going in

         15  and getting the documentation firsthand is

         16  important.

         17                 Because I think for many of us in

         18  this City it's a remote issue, and to a certain

         19  degree, people are somewhat frozen after what has

         20  taken place with 9/11, and you know, I've walked and

         21  said, as I've tried to deal with the challenges of

         22  so many diverse concerns with respect to

         23  immigration, because I have folks from all over the

         24  world in my district and every scenario is tragic

         25  and each one is a little bit difference in nuance,
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          2  that we need to get to know who our neighbors are,

          3  and we need to be able to speak to their concerns

          4  regardless of what our status is, and I think that

          5  is the challenge for our City, the fact that we

          6  don't hear enough from those who do have either

          7  natural citizenship or naturalized citizenship with

          8  respect to the rights of other human beings that

          9  have been quite a part of our productivity. I've

         10  often said that if some of our folks who have been

         11  living with us all these years and have been

         12  contributing to our communities were all of a sudden

         13  summarily deported, our economy would collapse. And

         14  people don't want to take a look at that. They don't

         15  want to deal with those issues. They don't want to

         16  deal with the fact that they're actually enjoying

         17  benefits of living in this City because these folks

         18  are here and contributing in very significant ways,

         19  and so that whole exploited and invisible factor is

         20  what needs to be unearthed in our communities, and

         21  that means knowing who your neighbor is, knowing who

         22  is living next door to you.

         23                 My question is about law enforcement,

         24  and I think for many of us the question is, you

         25  know, who exactly in your estimation, and in terms
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          2  of your investigations, who is it that is doing the

          3  round-up?

          4                 MR. OFER: You know, that's another

          5  hearing to hold, and I purposefully omitted that,

          6  even though I think that's an incredibly important

          7  point, because I think there is so much to take on.

          8                 In the round-up since September 11th,

          9  we know that it was, you know, the FBI was involved,

         10  we know that the INS, which was the Immigration

         11  Authority at that time, was involved, but you know,

         12  we have all these joint terrorism task forces that

         13  are in place right now, so there is a lot of

         14  complicity with the New York Police Department on

         15  these issues, and we have reports. In fact,

         16  Inspector General's Office, in his report one of the

         17  stories is about a group of Middle-Eastern men that

         18  were detained on September 15, 2001. They were

         19  originally stopped for a minor traffic violation,

         20  said they were speeding or something, NYPD stops

         21  them and they find plans for a school construction

         22  in the car. So, these are three Middle-Eastern men,

         23  four days after 9/11, with plans for a construction,

         24  for a school construction plan. Immediately red

         25  lights go on and they claim that they're involved in
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          2  terrorism.

          3                 The next day the men's employer calls

          4  the New York Police Department and others and says,

          5  yeah, these guys work at a construction company so

          6  it was appropriate to have these plans. Nonetheless,

          7  these three men were treated as direct suspects of

          8  the 9/11 attacks, and they were held until they were

          9  cleared of terrorism charges. And that meant that

         10  they were held for at least three months, but it

         11  could be up to a year and a half.

         12                 These are typical examples that are

         13  now being documented by the federal government,

         14  they're being documented by newspaper accounts, but

         15  there are plenty of these stories here.

         16                 So, I think it would be incredibly

         17  beneficial for us to ask the New York Police

         18  Department how have you been involved in these

         19  anti-terrorism initiatives? What are these joint

         20  terrorism task forces? What's the NYPD's role in it.

         21                 Because we do have Executive 41, but

         22  in all honesty, Executive 41 also has some loopholes

         23  in it that allows the NYPD to get around the don't

         24  ask, don't tell policy, if it's related to potential

         25  terrorist activity. That's the language of the
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          2  Executive Order, potential terrorist activity.

          3                 Well, unfortunately, after 9/11, an

          4  Arab-looking man walking on the Brooklyn Bridge to

          5  some people becomes potential terrorist activity.

          6                 MR. FOGEL: Well, let me just add, I

          7  think the Council ought to hear from the Police

          8  Department, are they following Executive Order 41,

          9  because what we know is that the national, the

         10  national government is now entering information

         11  about people's immigration status in the National

         12  Crime Information Center, so that when a police

         13  officer stops somebody and does a check, they may

         14  find out based on that information that there's an

         15  outstanding deportation order, what is the Police

         16  Department doing when faced with that information?

         17                 These are the kind of oversight

         18  hearings that I think are necessary in furtherance

         19  of Executive Order No. 41.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I want to

         21  thank you, gentlemen, for that. I think, Mr. Chair,

         22  that it's important that, you know, we get down to

         23  the bare essentials of this very complex situation.

         24  It's not -- it's very simplistic when we start

         25  seeing our constituencies summarily picked up and
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          2  disappearing, but it becomes much more complex when

          3  we start dealing with the entities that are

          4  complicit in this type of behavior that dehumanizes

          5  and devalues who they are and their worth to our

          6  communities and to our district.

          7                 And, as you know, Mr. Chair, I'm not

          8  assigned to this Committee, but I will, and I'm very

          9  willing to work with this Committee to do what needs

         10  to be done if we need to look at, you know,

         11  communities where we can assert these protocols that

         12  have been discussed here today, just doing the sort

         13  of neighborhood-by-neighborhood assessment, I'd be

         14  quite willing and I'd like to be a part of doing

         15  that, because it's very important. The fall-out that

         16  hit the Council Members' office as a result of these

         17  policies that are really hitting our communities

         18  hard needs to be felt by every New Yorker, and I

         19  think that that's one role we can play is bringing

         20  this level of sensitivity and understanding of

         21  exactly what is taking place to every New Yorker.

         22                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I appreciate

         24  your gesture and we welcome you to the Immigration

         25  Committee, and we have always counted you as one of
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          2  the members, even though you were not officially a

          3  member.

          4                 But nevertheless, I will hold you

          5  accountable to be part of this Committee from now

          6  onwards, and we are working closely to make sure

          7  that you get all the information and participate

          8  fully.

          9                 The more I listen, the more I see

         10  that there is so much to be done, as far as

         11  immigration is concerned, whether it's day laborers

         12  or it has to do with education for and higher

         13  education with their kids in school and being able

         14  to get documented, or even undocumented kids in the

         15  primary schools, or just the Patriot Act, there is

         16  so much to be done and so much that we can work on,

         17  but right now these issues that are being raised, I

         18  feel they are very urgent, and I'm looking for

         19  directions, I'm looking for help, I'm looking for

         20  avenues where we can really work together to make

         21  sure that no stone is left unturned, because even

         22  though we cannot make laws, we can influence them,

         23  we can have those changes take place.

         24                 I always say that even though we are

         25  all immigrants, we are considered all immigrants,
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          2  and just because some of us came here some hundred

          3  years ago or 50 years ago or 20 years ago and we are

          4  now documented to a point and we can now vote, that

          5  doesn't mean we can forget those who have just

          6  arrived. And I will always say that and make sure

          7  that even to the last date that I'm a member of the

          8  Committee, I'm going to be working hard to make sure

          9  immigrants get the full service of this Committee.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 MR. OFER: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: The last panel I

         13  think we have, Subhash Kateel and Rishi Singh.

         14  Kateel from Families for Freedom; and Singh from

         15  DRUM; Sheila Mirza from DRUM also; and the last

         16  person is Helena Wong. I think we all can be up

         17  there.

         18                 Just identify yourself and just

         19  begin, please.

         20                 MR. KATEEL: Subhash Kateel -- these

         21  machines are kind of new to me. Once again, my name

         22  is Subhash Kateel. I'm with an organization called

         23  Families for Freedom.

         24                 I'm testifying as a community member

         25  and an organizer with Families For Freedom.
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          2                 Families For Freedom is a New York

          3  Network by and for immigrants directly facing

          4  deportation.

          5                 All of our members are immigrant

          6  prisoners, better known as detainees, former

          7  immigrant prisoners, their loved ones, or

          8  individuals at risk of deportation.

          9                 Our constituents come primarily from

         10  Latin America, the Caribbean and South Asia.

         11                 First, with a million people deported

         12  since the passage of the 1996 immigration laws,

         13  deportation is a crisis in immigrant communities

         14  across the board in New York City.

         15                 In informal surveys in Latino,

         16  Caribbean and South Asian communities, we have found

         17  that as many as a third of the non-citizen

         18  respondents to our surveys fear seeking government

         19  help because of their immigration status. And I

         20  actually would like to add that over 50 percent of a

         21  response to our survey actually feel that New York

         22  is unsafe for immigrants as a whole.

         23                 Something was brought up not too long

         24  ago about the neighborhood of Inwood.

         25                 I would actually like to also say,
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          2  our surveys happen in the neighborhoods of Flatbush,

          3  Washington Heights, Jackson Heights and Crown

          4  Heights.

          5                 In all of those neighborhoods across

          6  the board, and particularly in a neighborhood like

          7  Flatbush, because it's about a half mile away from

          8  Inwood, it's a stone throw away from Inwood, of

          9  primarily Caribbean neighborhood, and Midwood

         10  primarily a Pakistani neighborhood, we're seeing

         11  people, I would say the majority of people we

         12  surveyed knew at least one person that got deported,

         13  and in some cases we knew people that knew as many

         14  as 25 people that have been deported, and Caribbean

         15  communities, Latino communities and South Asian

         16  communities across the board.

         17                 We're dealing with a human rights

         18  crisis, and I really feel that much of our

         19  discussions with people from various communities

         20  have yet to see the, we have yet to see any

         21  acknowledgment of how deep this crisis is across the

         22  board in New York City.

         23                 While we feel that the rescinding of

         24  Executive Order 34 was a positive response to public

         25  outcry, we also see that the new Executive Order 41
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          2  is not sufficient enough to protect the rights of

          3  immigrant New Yorkers.

          4                 For one, Executive Order 41 does not

          5  address the forms of local government collaboration

          6  already taking place between -- sorry, between local

          7  government bodies and the former INS, the most

          8  obvious of which is absconded apprehension

          9  initiative.

         10                 An unknown number of immigrants have

         11  been apprehended under the absconded initiative with

         12  the help of the NYPD. A clear example of the public

         13  safety crisis that this involves is following the

         14  case of a Queens family.

         15                 In December 2002, two men in plain

         16  clothes knocked on a Pakistani family's door at

         17  dawn. They shouted, "police. Open up" and flashed

         18  their badges.

         19                 The officers entered the home on the

         20  premises of investigating a burglary that the couple

         21  reported two years ago, but then with immigration

         22  questions. He had no Green Card and a priority of

         23  deportation, so they cuffed him and carted him off

         24  to detention. He has been in a New Jersey County

         25  Jail ever since, leaving behind his wife and three
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          2  children.

          3                 Her and her nine-year-old son are

          4  also facing deportation.

          5                 Furthermore, immigrants in criminal

          6  custody are also subject to referrals to immigration

          7  upon completion of their sentences, in New York

          8  institutions such as Rikers Island, so that was

          9  alluded to awhile back.

         10                 Though approximately some 8,000

         11  foreign-born inmates in the New York Department of

         12  Corrections custody were often unknowingly referred

         13  to immigration and most likely deportation upon the

         14  completion of the sentences.

         15                 We are talking about individuals who

         16  are largely legal residents, who are hardly ever

         17  advised that their guilty pleas will result in

         18  deportation, and often only find out about the

         19  deportation the date they think they're being

         20  released from jail or rehab or community service.

         21                 While the ability of immigration to

         22  apprehend some in New York custody happens with

         23  relative ease, immigrants in New York custody have a

         24  near impossible time accessing legal information

         25  about immigration laws while in state custody.
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          2                 This means know your rights

          3  presentations in places like Rikers Island. This

          4  means access to immigration attorneys or information

          5  by immigration attorneys in places like Rikers

          6  Island. This means access to information about

          7  criminal immigration laws in the law library in

          8  places like Rikers Island. And this also means the

          9  existence of something called "the institutional

         10  hearing program" where while they're doing their

         11  state time in Upstate and doing time in places like

         12  Bedford Hills, people actually go through

         13  immigration deportation proceedings in front of a

         14  video camera.

         15                 Lastly, we are credibly troubled by

         16  the loopholes in Executive Order 41 that allow

         17  immigration police cooperation for people

         18  quote/unquote suspected of illegal activity.

         19                 It's very clear to us that

         20  immigration laws are now being used as a streamline

         21  form or racial profiling in Caribbean, Latino and

         22  South Asian neighborhoods.

         23                 Families for Freedom dreads the day

         24  that frivolous stops and frisks can lead community

         25  members into lifelong exile from the United States.
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          2                 We're asking for help from the

          3  Mayor's Office to, first, identify the Mayor's

          4  Office and the City Council, to first identify the

          5  forms of local collaboration already taking place

          6  between local government and immigration enforcement

          7  and how they're being funded; who is authorizing

          8  immigration agents to even be in Rikers Island and

          9  even question inmates in Rikers Island for one?

         10                 Identify the community impacts of

         11  local collaboration, something that's been talked

         12  about a lot, and I don't need to repeat it.

         13                 And please inform us of the

         14  mechanisms to enforce Executive Order 41 and the

         15  local, and the guidelines of local cooperation

         16  between immigration enforcement and the police where

         17  people quote/unquote suspected of illegal activity.

         18  What does "suspected" mean? Does "suspected" mean

         19  having deadlocks on Church Avenue and Flatbush

         20  Avenue? Does "suspected" mean speaking Spanish in

         21  Washington Heights? What does "suspected" of illegal

         22  activity mean?

         23                 I could say a whole lot of things,

         24  and I'll leave room for other folks to talk, but I'd

         25  like to close with, it's very clear to us, and it's
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          2  very clear to most immigrant advocates and immigrant

          3  organizers that the federal government is absolutely

          4  refusing the protective rights of immigrants within

          5  its borders.

          6                 In a situation that we have right now

          7  with over a million people deported since 1996, it

          8  is really up to our local government bodies, and

          9  it's up to our local communities to be vigilant in

         10  protecting our rights and helping us to defend our

         11  rights.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 MS. MIRZA: Hi. My name is Sheila

         14  Mirza. I'm representing an organization called DRUM,

         15  Daisies Rising Up and Moving. Rishi and I are youth

         16  members of that organization. We had a couple of

         17  questions about the Clear Act and Executive Order

         18  41, and we also wanted to state that we are the

         19  faces of like immigrant families and like immigrant

         20  youth in New York City that are going to school and

         21  from this new 120 more police officers and 12

         22  violent schools, we are going to those schools and

         23  we face those police, and we're like in constant

         24  fear of police in our communities, and now we're in

         25  constant fear of police in our schools, and we are
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          2  afraid to go to them. So, we had some questions

          3  about that.

          4                 MR. SINGH: Hi. My name is Rishi

          5  Singh, and I'm one of the youth members of DRUM. And

          6  we were hoping to pose these questions to the Office

          7  of Immigrant Affairs but they left.

          8                 So, first of all, with Executive

          9  Order 41, I know this has been said already, that

         10  what does "suspected" mean. And really, after 9/11

         11  people were suspected of being terrorists because of

         12  their name, because of what they look like, because

         13  if they had a beard and stuff, what does suspected

         14  mean?

         15                 And also, what if police were able to

         16  pull you over for a traffic violation and they were

         17  to check your name in the NCIC databases, which

         18  includes absconders and people who are for special

         19  registration, would that give them the basis to

         20  arrest that person? And also, there's the impending

         21  fear that the Clear Act will be passed. If it is

         22  passed, what can the City government do to ensure

         23  that immigrants are safe from this?

         24                 MS. MIRZA: Also I'd like to add to

         25  that, in terms of racial profiling by the NYPD, what
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          2  does the government, the New York City government is

          3  trying to prevent that from happening because I,

          4  myself, and other young people in my community have

          5  been getting summonses for sitting on steps in a

          6  train station, and that's just really, that's really

          7  crazy.

          8                 I mean, obviously it's really crazy

          9  to be sitting on the steps feeling sick and you're

         10  getting summonses for that. So, that's another

         11  example of the constant fear we're facing, because

         12  every little thing young people are doing,

         13  immigrants are doing, is all of a sudden illegal and

         14  a way of the NYPD and the INS to get us and to put

         15  us, because even by jumping a turnstile, these young

         16  people do on a regular basis, you can get deported

         17  for that now. That's another issue.

         18                 MS. WONG: Hi. My name is Helena Wong.

         19  I work at CAAAV, Organization Asian Communities,

         20  which is a community-based organization in Chinatown

         21  that works with tenants on issues of gentrification

         22  and displacement.

         23                 We all know that Chinatown has some

         24  of the worst housing stock in the City. Many of the

         25  buildings are old tenements that have not been
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          2  properly maintained for over 100 years, and others

          3  have not done their jobs of making basic repairs in

          4  apartments or preserving the structures of

          5  buildings.

          6                 Additionally, many landlords

          7  purposefully do not make repairs to the apartments

          8  in order to push out low-income tenants, and bring

          9  in new tenants who can bring in three or four times

         10  more than what the previous rent was.

         11                 In a survey that we conducted over

         12  the summer, over 73 percent of Chinatown tenants

         13  said that they had experienced some housing problem

         14  within the last year.

         15                 Over 58 percent said that they do not

         16  have adequate heat or hot water. Many other problems

         17  exist, such as collapsing ceilings, leaking pipes,

         18  exposed wiring and lead paint peeling off the walls.

         19                 HPD is a City agency that is supposed

         20  to deal with housing issues when landlords have

         21  neglected their buildings. Yet, they do not have

         22  funding for housing inspectors who speak Chinese.

         23                 There is no way for Chinatown

         24  residents to lodge complaints against their

         25  landlords, or to follow up with HPD when an
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          2  inspector does come.

          3                 At the same time, the Mayor's DoITT

          4  office also does not have any bilingual housing

          5  specialist at the 311 hot line. So when Chinese

          6  tenants call about not having heat or hot water,

          7  they are not able to communicate their needs to

          8  specialists that are there.

          9                 Some of what happens is that they are

         10  routinely hung up on when they speak in Chinese and

         11  request translation.

         12                 They are transferred to the wrong

         13  office, rather than providing translation, we have

         14  heard of cases of immigrants who don't speak English

         15  are referred to the Department of Mental Health.

         16                 Tenants calling about emergencies are

         17  often told to call back because no translators are

         18  available at that time.

         19                 One woman was told to learn English,

         20  and move out if you don't like your landlord.

         21                 Needless to say, immigrant tenants

         22  get frustrated and don't turn to 311 as a resource.

         23  So, immigrants who don't speak English are

         24  disproportionately underserved by 311.

         25                 This September, residents in
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          2  Chinatown launched a Campaign for Language Access.

          3  Chinatown tenants want bilingual housing inspectors

          4  and hot line operators who can address their housing

          5  concerns.

          6                 MOIA has shown interest in our work.

          7  While we appreciate having a representative from

          8  MOIA come to meetings with HPD and DoITT, they have

          9  remained silent at these meetings, leaving us to

         10  advocate for language access on our own.

         11                 In the interest of tenants who cannot

         12  access HPD services, we look to MOIA to play the

         13  role in advocating for tenants-on-tenants on the

         14  most basic issue of housing rights.

         15                 I cannot stress enough the need to

         16  address the dilapidated housing conditions that

         17  exist in Chinatown. Chinatown residents work with

         18  the City to improve their homes.

         19                 They cannot do that without first

         20  being able to communicate their needs to the

         21  agencies who have the power to address them.

         22                 We recognize the need of MOIA to

         23  continue on its work related to immigrant concerns.

         24  Indeed the issues are many and broad.

         25                 However, I would like to urge this
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          2  Committee to make a strong recommendation to MOIA on

          3  focusing on the language access needs of all

          4  immigrants in New York City.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I want to thank

          6  you all for your testimony, but all your requests,

          7  we have someone from the Mayor's Office of Immigrant

          8  Affairs right here, sitting right next to you, and I

          9  am sure you are going to take back some of that

         10  information to the Commissioner, especially those

         11  that deal with what is the policy with the -- and

         12  what is happening with our policemen and they're

         13  collaborating with other agencies, and as a matter

         14  of fact if there is any stats showing what happens

         15  to anyone that has been arrested, if they then move

         16  on to the immigration problem.

         17                 We understand your concerns. What we

         18  are trying to deal with is how we can approach it,

         19  how we can work together to make sure that some

         20  changes of the inmate, and the people who have the

         21  powers, hear us. And the Mayor's Office of Immigrant

         22  Affairs I think will have to give us some

         23  information as to what happens when someone has been

         24  arrested, and even if that one is undocumented, is

         25  that policeman going to pass on that? What is the
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          2  policy? We want to know that. We want to know what

          3  has been happening, because I believe a lot of folks

          4  who have been arrested, maybe just on suspicion of a

          5  crime, and have not been found guilty of that crime,

          6  they have since then been attained for months and

          7  months because of improper papers or whatever.

          8                 I feel that this is a good beginning

          9  and we should continue the dialogue.

         10                 I think my colleague, Council Member

         11  Clarke, has some questions and comments.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Yes. I

         13  primarily have a comment.

         14                 I want to, first of all, thank all

         15  three of you for putting a face of youth growing up

         16  as immigrants in this country. I'm second

         17  generation, so my experience is a little bit

         18  different, and not only that I came up in a time,

         19  let's put it that way, I'm still kind of young, I

         20  know, where there wasn't the critical mass of

         21  immigrants that we have here now, particularly

         22  coming from certain regions, let's put it that way,

         23  particularly coming from the Caribbean, coming from

         24  Southeast Asia and what have you.

         25                 What I would say to particularly you
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          2  two young people there is that you've raised really

          3  good questions, a lot of the answers to those

          4  questions reside within you already, because you are

          5  directly impacted by what is taking place. There are

          6  certain things you observe about an environment that

          7  you're in that gives rise to certain actions from

          8  the police. We need to know what those conditions

          9  are. You know, we need to know, in terms of

         10  strategizing, you know, how young people feel, where

         11  the roadblocks are, and in response to that we then

         12  craft the types of legislation that enable us to

         13  deal with the parameters that we're dealing in.

         14  Ultimately this is a federal matter and we have to

         15  get to the point where everyone in the City is fed

         16  up enough to make this an issue in dealing with the

         17  federal government and electoral politics. That's

         18  the bottom line to it.

         19                 Your voice and your face in that is

         20  important, and it may seem like a major sacrifice,

         21  but there were other people who sacrificed so that

         22  we can be where we are even today. And I think that

         23  we've reached that point in time again, and I

         24  understand the natural inclination of being fearful

         25  of the situation, but I think we need to also be
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          2  smart in terms of identifying very quickly, in

          3  passing that information on to Council Member

          4  Stewart, passing it on to me, all 51 Council members

          5  should be informed by your day-to-day experience.

          6                 We need to also reach out to other

          7  youth that have experienced similar things. I mean,

          8  I know young people who have been deported already,

          9  and their families still reside here. They've gone

         10  back home to a nation they never really knew. You

         11  know, they didn't grow up there, they came to the

         12  U.S., you know, sometimes as young as six months

         13  old, and now they're back in the nation where

         14  everyone else is here and they're back there.

         15                 So, there are some serious

         16  consequences that we need to, one, provide a roadmap

         17  for safety for a number of our people who will

         18  confront similar circumstances, and that's informed

         19  with what happens with you on a day-to-day basis,

         20  but beyond that apply pressure as another means or

         21  strategy to those who are New Yorkers of conscience,

         22  to really raise the concern about these issues to a

         23  federal level, where we address it through the

         24  electorate, because there are a lot of self-interest

         25  here. You know, people love immigrants because
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          2  they're hoping that they can get labor that's less

          3  expensive, than if they were to deal with

          4  naturalized or natural citizens, and it's an

          5  exploited factor. That's call it what it is, it's

          6  really exploitation right here in the United States

          7  of America.

          8                 We need to be able to fight against

          9  that effectively and efficiently, and that means,

         10  you know, people of every generation dealing with

         11  this issue and dealing with their forthright in a

         12  very humanistic standpoint, from a humanistic

         13  standpoint. You bring that humanistic value to the

         14  table, and, yes, it's important that you raise the

         15  questions. Even more important, I challenge you to

         16  come up with solutions, to come up with ways and

         17  avenues in which you can help us to empower you.

         18                 I'm willing to do whatever needs to

         19  be done. If it's, you know, meet in someone's

         20  basement by candlelight, you know what I'm saying,

         21  to go over the issues, then let's do that. But I

         22  think it's more important that we begin doing that

         23  as opposed to looking at this thing from a fearful

         24  perspective.

         25                 We have too many families, too many
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          2  of our own people invested in this country. You've

          3  made the investment, you sitting here today have

          4  made the investment in this country, and you deserve

          5  a return on your investment, and not to be kicked

          6  out, cast aside, or made to feel less than anyone

          7  else.

          8                 So, it was really a comment that I

          9  had to say, because I'm very moved by the fact that

         10  you have taken the time and that you're here. And

         11  you look like everyone who walks in Flatbush, and I

         12  know every time I pass by young people in my

         13  community, these are the types of issues that weigh

         14  on them while they're trying to also be young

         15  people, and be a part of a lifestyle that takes them

         16  to the next level that helps them fulfill their

         17  dreams. We should not have these barriers in front

         18  of your dreams.

         19                 So, I'm hoping that you'll use your

         20  activism to help us to activate others.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Once again, I

         23  want to thank the panel for coming in and

         24  testifying.

         25                 I just want to let you know that
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          2  there's a common saying that "democracy is not a

          3  spectator's sport," I'm glad that you're taking

          4  part, and only by you participating and by you

          5  getting involved that we can really bring the issues

          6  to the forefront and let people know that the

          7  injustices that are being appropriated in the

          8  district throughout New York City, as far as

          9  immigration is concerned, we will not stand for it.

         10                 I'm glad that as young people that

         11  you came out, and you came out and testified, and I

         12  hope that you will continue to get involved.

         13                 That is the end of our session today.

         14  I want to thank Council Member Palma for staying out

         15  the entire session, and Council Member Clarke, and

         16  my counsel here, Jackie Sherman, for being such a

         17  wonderful person.

         18                 Thank you very much, and we will see

         19  you in another couple of weeks. Thank you very much.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 3:34 p.m.)
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